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James MCMAHAN

James became an adult well before the founding of Rowan County, North Carolina, where he was residing when he died.  Where did he live prior to Rowan County?
In his book, Carolina Cradle, Robert W. Ramsey asserted that James, Andrew and John McMachan of Rowan County originated in New Castle County, Delaware.
  
It would be helpful to know exactly when the James McMahan who ended up in Rowan County, North Carolina, was thought to be in New Castle County, Delaware.  In Carolina Cradle, the footnote relating to the presence of James, Andrew, and John in New Castle County identified the basis for the assertion as 

New Castle County Court of Common Pleas 1703-17, 1727-1740, … Folder XIV (1727-1730), p. 23 …; tombstones of Andrew McMachan (1708-34) and William McMachan (1679-1738) in White Clay Creek cemetery …
White Clay Creek was the site of a Presbyterian church in New Castle County.
  It would appear from the footnote that James, Andrew, and John were identified as being in New Castle County sometime in the 1703-1717 and/or 1727-1740 time periods.  James was born in about 1714, so any reference to a James McMahan in court or land records before 1732 is probably not a reference to Eunice’s ancestor.

An Andrew McMahan and a James McMachan/McMahan appear in the land records of New Castle County in 1726 and 1727.  They witness deeds of William and Jennet McMahan.
  Eunice’s ancestor James would have been too young to witness anything in 1727, however.  Additional transactions involving both James and William (but not Andrew) occurred later.  The James is probably not Eunice’s ancestor.
In 1736/37, a James McMechan, miller, of Mill Creek Hundred in New Castle County, Delaware, bought 58 perches of land in Christiana Hundred in the same county from Augustine Constantine.  The witnesses were Samuel Marshall and Jas. McMullary. 
   In 1737, a James McMechan bought 200 acres in New Castle County, Delaware, from John Ogle of White Clay Creek Hundred for £331 and 200 acres from Thomas Ogle and Benjamin Gibbs of New Castle County for £80.  The witnesses were David French and Francis Graham (the first purchase) and David French and John Hore (the second purchase).
  In 1737/38, a Jas. McMeechen witnessed the sale of 94 acres by James and Mary Laughlin of Mill Creek Hundred in New Castle County to Robert Kirkwood.
  
Some of the actions in 1737-1738 might have involved James McMahan, Eunice’s ancestor.  At the time of these actions, he was about 23 or 24 years old, so he was old enough, and he appears to have been a fuller, and fullers used mills in their work, so he might be called a miller.  On the other hand, £411 was quite a bit of money for a young man of 23 or 24 to have amassed in the 1730s.  Of course, these actions might have been taken by two (or more) men with the same name.   Unfortunately, there is no hard evidence that James McMahan, Eunice’s ancestor, was the participant in any of these actions.  
Robert Ramsey asserted that Andrew and James McMachan “…obtained land warrants in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, between 1744 and 1750” before moving to the Yadkin region in North Carolina.
  In fact, a James McMahan had 100 acres surveyed in Antrim Township of Lancaster County on 18 Feb. 1744/45 and a James McMachen had 50 acres surveyed in Earl Township of that same county on 23 Aug. 1746.  An Andrew McMacken had 40 acres surveyed in Hanover Township on 11 Feb. 1750/51.  In addition, a John McMechon had 300 acres in Mount Joy Township of Lancaster County surveyed on 29 May 1746.
  This last land transaction was missed by Ramsey.  Are these indeed the same people who settled in Rowan County, North Carolina?  This needs to be further investigated. 
From the above, James and his father, John McMahan, were purported to have lived in New Castle County, Delaware, prior to moving to the Rowan County area.  They might also have lived in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania.  Furthermore, at the time of his death, John McMahan appears to have owned land in York County, Pennsylvania, and in Frederick County, Maryland.  So, it is possible that James, as a young adult and family man, lived in New Castle County, in Lancaster County, in York County, in Frederick County, or in some combination of the four.  This needs to be further investigated.  

About 1714.  Born (based on age and year of death on his tombstone).  
The following material, part of a letter dated 30 Nov. 1880 from Mary Reed Frost Rollins Defrees of Indianapolis, Indiana (transcribed by Beverly J. Schonewolf), indicates that James “came from” (and was presumably born in) County Down in Ulster, Ireland (emphasis added):

Of my side of the house I can not give any acount farther back then my great grandparents, my great-grandfather William Frost was of English decent or perhaps Welch my grandfather Ebenezer Frost was born and brought up in new Jursey whence he removed to North Carolina where he married Elizabeth Willson who was of Irish anacstry by whome he had 12 children William Frost my father married Elizabeth Read by her he raised six children their names were, Susanna, Mary, Sarah, Ebenezer, Elizabeth, Caroline. My grandparents on my mother's side were named as follows James Read whoes father came from the County Down Ireland and located on monacaca creek Marieland waire he married Margaret DeHoofe of French decent.  My grandfather James Read married Mary M. Mac mahan she was the daugher of James McMahan who also came from the county Down Ireland his wife's name was Susan Hilderbrand of German decent.  So my children are of four nations of the old world combined my father William Frost moved from North Carolina Rohan County to Ohio 185 built a camp in the woods near Piqua the 20th of November built a cabin and went into it Christmas. We were two and a half miles from white nighbors but Indians were plenty so were wild animals. I with my husband and family moved to Goshen, Indiana in 1835. I am now 83 years old. Mary Defrees

Before or About 1737.  Married Susannah Hildebrandt

About 1737.  Son Samuel was born. 
23 May 1741.  Son John was born. 
About 1745.  Daughter Elizabeth was born. 
15 Feb. 1747.  Son Thomas was born.
  
About 1747-1749.  Daughter Sarah was born. 
About 1752. 
  Daughter Mary was born.   Mary married James Reed on 12 June 1774 in Rowan County, North Carolina.
  She died in June 1810 in Butler Township, Montgomery County, Ohio.  She was buried on the Reed family farm.

30 Nov. 1753.  James McMaken obtained a warrant from the Granville Proprietary Land Office for 640 acres on Dutchman’s Creek in Rowan County, North Carolina.  The warrant was signed by Fras. Corbin.  James Carter was to do the survey.  The surveyed land was to be on Dutchman’s Creek or near it on Lick pen, and was to include the place where McMaken was then living.  A deed was issued (i.e., a Granville Proprietary grant was made) on 2 Jan. 1761. 
  
James and family probably came south to the Dutchman’s Creek area on the “Great Wagon Road,” which ran from Philadelphia to the Shallow Ford on the Yadkin River.  This road, 435 miles long, was also called “The Carolina Road” and “The Road to the Yadkin River.”

14 May 1754.  James McMahon, Plat of Survey, Granville Proprietary Land Office, for 204 acres on south side of Lyleses Creek in Rowan County, North Carolina.  The surveyor's name is not given. David Johnson and James Forbes were the chain carriers. The property was entered (i.e., the process of obtaining a grant from the Granville Proprietary began) on 25 July 1753. 

About 1754-1759.  Son James was born.  Based on his paternal grandfather’s last will and testament, he was underage in 1774.  He died before his father, since he was not mentioned in his father’s last will and testament.  
About 1759.  Son William was born.  William married Rebecca Foster in Rowan County on 23 Sep. 1790.  James Reed was the bondsman on his 20 Sep. 1790 marriage bond.  Susannah Dial (a daughter of James Reed and his wife Mary McMahan) recalled that the second day wedding feast for William and Rebecca was at her father’s house.  William served in a Virginia unit during the Revolutionary War.  Later, William became a Methodist Episcopal preacher.  He died on 5 April 1814 in Batavia Township, Clermont County, Ohio. 

20 July 1762.  James McMahan of Granville County bought 422 acres of land on Dutchman’s Creek in Rowan County, North Carolina, from Archibald Hamilton.  The land was bordering that of David Johnson.  The witnesses to the deed were Morgan Bryan and Will Reed.  (See Rowan County Deed Book 4, pp. 744-746.) 

24 July 1762.  Lease and release from Archibald Hamilton to James McMakan for 422 acres on 20 and 21 Dec. 1761 proved by Morgan Bryan.  (See Rowan County Order Book II, p. 423.)

1772.  James McMahan Senr. and son Samuel appear together on the Rowan County tax list of William Sharp.

August 1777.  James McMahon took an oath of allegiance to North Carolina at a session of the Rowan County, North Carolina, Court of Pleas and Quarter Sessions.  This might be either James Sr. or James Jr., his son.

1778.  James McMahan appears on the Rowan County tax list of Capt. Johnston with a tax bill of 6 pounds 2 shillings.  Given the size of the tax bill, this is presumed to be James Sr.

1779.  James McMaughan was identified on a York County, Pennsylvania, tax list as having 170 acres in Mount Joy Township.  He had no slaves, horses, or cattle.   His tax was 22 pounds 10 shillings. 
 John McMahan’s Frederick County, Maryland, last will and testament, dated in 1774, said that he was residing in Mount Joy Township and had about 150 acres there.  This was land that James inherited from John McMahan for his lifetime, after which it was to go to John’s grandchildren, Samuel, Agnes, and Jean McMahan. 

21 Mar. 1780.  John Johnston obtained State Grant No. 188 for 580 acres in the forks of the Yadkin River on both sides of Cedar Creek adjacent to James McMachan and Evan Ellis.  The cost of the grant was 50 shillings per 100 acres.  (See Rowan County Deed Book 9, p. 197.) 

1781.  James McMahan was identified on a York County, Pennsylvania, tax list as having 150 acres in Mount Joy Township.  He had no horses or cattle and a 3 pound 10 shilling tax bill. 
 
1782.  James McMahon was identified on a York County, Pennsylvania, tax list as having 150 acres in Mount Joy Township.  He had no horses or cattle and a 6 pound 10 shilling tax bill. 
  

10 Oct. 1783.  James Reed obtained State Grant No. 522 for 130 acres on Dutchman’s Creek adjacent Ruth Wilcockson, Wm Whitaker, and James McMahan.  The cost of the grant was 50 shillings per 100 acres. (See Rowan County Deed Book 9, p. 611.) 

4 Nov. 1784.  Cornelius Wood obtained State Grant No. 817 for 30 acres on south side of Dutchman’s Creek adjacent James Coon and James McMahan.  The cost of the grant was 50 shillings per 100 acres. (See Rowan County Deed Book 10, p. 61.) 

4 Nov. 1784.  James Poore obtained State Grant No. 864 for 338 acres on north side of Dutchman’s Creek adjacent to James McMahan, John Johnston, Morgan and James Bryan.  The cost of the grant was 50 shillings per 100 acres. (See Rowan County Deed Book 10, p. 127.) 

20 Sep. 1785.  John Johnston obtained State Grant No. 1066 for 150 acres on Dutchman’s Creek adjacent to James McMahan, Johnston, James Poor, and Morgan Bryan.  The cost of the grant was 50 shillings per 100 acres. (See Rowan County Deed Book 10, p. 524.) 

14 Sep. 1787.  James McMachan signed his last will and testament.  The last will and testament read as follows (emphasis added):

In the name of God Amen! I James McMachan of Rowan County in North Carolina, be in a tolerable good state of health thanks be to God calling to mind the mortalite of the Body, knowing that it is appointed for all men once to die, do make & ordain this my last will & test: Principally & first I recomend my soul into the hands of God, & my body to the earth to be decently buried nothing doubting as at the general resurrection I shall receive the same again. And as touchin such worldly estate wherewith it has pleased God to bless me in this life I give devise & dispose of the same in the following manner first I give & bequeath to Susanna my beloved wife all my household goods & all my black cattle & sheep also I give to my beloved sons Samuel & Willm Mcmachan all my land to be equally divided betwixt them beginning at the midle of the west line & run straight to the east & Samuel shall have the South side & Willm the north & I also appoint the Samuel McMachan & Willm McMachan to executors of this my last will & test: & further my will is that said executors shall pay as soon as convenient they can twenty-five pounds a piece to the rest of my beloved children to John & Thomas, Elizabeth, & James & Mary of which same I appoint Willm to pay one hundred pounds & Samuel twenty-five pounds & to my son William all my ? of [underscored blank] with I give my bay horse & young mare & waggon - and I will that my beloved wife have comfortable living on the place as long as she lives - I confirm this to be my last will in witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand & seal this 14 day of September 1787 
Signed, sealed, declared 
in presence of us 
Lazarus Whitehead jun David Johnson 
X 
James McMachan {seal}
23 Apr. 1796.  James McMahan sold Samuel McMahan and William McMahan jointly for £10, 10 acres on both sides of the small creek "where the fulling mill now stands," part of the land the grantor was living on. The witnesses were Basil Gaither, John Handcock, John Harris.  This deed was proved by Basil Gaither at the May 1796 Court.
 
James would appear to have been a fuller, based on this sale.  Furthermore, Samuel and William appear to have followed their father in this trade.
5 June 1799.  Died.  James is buried in Whitaker Cemetery near Mocksville, North Carolina, which was originally in Rowan County but now is in Davie County (Davie County was created out of land formerly in Rowan County).

1799.  His last will and testament was probated.  The heirs were 
 
· Susanna McMachan
· Samuel McMachan
· William McMachan
· John McMachan
· Thomas McMachan
· James McMachan
· Elizabeth McMachan
· Mary McMachan
65
Susannah HILDEBRANDT
Susannah’s reputed maiden name, Hildebrandt, cannot be confirmed.  The basis for the use of the surname here is the following excerpt from the 30 Nov. 1880 letter by Mary Reed Frost Rollins Defrees of Indianapolis, Indiana (cited above; emphasis added): 
My grandfather James Read married Mary M. McMahan she was the daugher of James McMahan who also came from the County Down Ireland his wife's name was Susan Hilderbrand of German decent.  
The McCubbin Collection was reviewed, and although it did include Hildebrand(t)s from Rowan County, North Carolina, Susannah could not be connected to any of them.
  This is not altogether surprising, since James and Susannah must have married before they came to North Carolina, if Robert Ramsey is even partially correct concerning the movements of James.  
James McMahan appears to have been in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, in the 1740s.  It is possible that James met and married Susannah in Lancaster County.  
A John Hildebrand had 167 acres surveyed in Lancaster County on 1 Mar. 1733/34, while a Jacob Hildebrand had 50 acres surveyed in that county on 4 Apr. 1744.  John patented his acreage, while Jacob did not. 
  A John Hildebrand died in York County, which was created from Lancaster County.  His last will and testament was probated on 30 April 1783.
  A search of the Internet indicates that this John Hildebrand was a contemporary of Susannah.  He cannot be the John Hildebrand who acquired land in 1733/4, because he married in Switzerland in 1748.
  A Jacob Hildebrandt was a member of Zion Reformed Church in York County (formerly Lancaster County) before 1754.
  Nothing more is known about him.  Tax lists for 1756 identify three Hildebrands living in Lancaster County -- Christian (with 50 acres), Conrad (with 100 acres), and Michael Hildebrand (with 80 acres), all appearing on Earl Township tax lists, and Andrew Hiltebrand (with 20 acres), who appears on Brecknock Township tax lists.
  
The three Hildebrands in Earl Township are very interesting.  As mentioned before, a James McMachen had 50 acres surveyed in Earl Township on 23 Aug. 1746.  James does not appear on the 1756 tax lists.  The Conrad of 1756 is undoubtedly Hans Conrad Hildebrand, formerly of Weiler in Germany.  He arrived in America with his family in the early 1730s.  Michael and Christian are likely his sons.  The John Hildebrand who obtained a warrant in 1733/34 is possibly Conrad.  Conrad’s first wife was named Susannah.  The family of Conrad and Susannah have been studied, and they cannot be the parents of Eunice’s Susannah. 
 Further investigation is needed.

1718.  Susannah was born.

1802.  Susannah died and was buried in Whitaker Cemetery near Mocksville, North Carolina, which was originally in Rowan County but is now in Davie County (Davie County was created out of land formerly in Rowan County).  Beyond her name (“Susanna McMachand”), her tombstone is reported to be illegible. 
  According to Rocky McMahan, Susannah died on 6 Feb. 1802.
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Abraham ADAMS
Margaret Wells (now deceased) argued that Abraham’s father was George Adams of the Loudoun/Fauquier County area of Virginia.  Furthermore, she argued that George’s father was John Adams (II), that his father was John Adams (I), “the carpenter,” and that his father was Dr. William Adams, “chirurgion” (surgeon or apothecary), of Northumberland County, Virginia.  She also argued that Thomas Adams of Northumberland County was probably a brother of Dr. William Adams.  She hypothesized that another John Adams of Northumberland County, who was last seen in the records in the 1650s at the age of approximately 30, might also be a brother of Dr. William Adams.

While the evidence upon which she built her arguments is circumstantial, that evidence is compelling up to, but not including Dr. William Adams.  John Adams (I) might have been the son of either Dr. William or John Adams.  Dr. William Adams was dead by September 1658 (he evidently died at a relatively young age).  He is known to have had a wife who survived him, 
 while nothing is known of John Adams’s marital status.  Nevertheless, either might have been the father of John Adams (I).  Thomas Adams of Northumberland County never married, so John (I) was not his son.  Margaret found that John Adams (I) ended up with some of the land formerly owned by Thomas Adams, which led her to believe that John (I) and Thomas were kinsmen.
  
In a family history focusing on the ancestors and descendants of Absalom Adams (born in 1731 or before and died in 1800 or later) of Fauquier and Culpeper Counties in Virginia and Lincoln County in Kentucky, the author, John C. Adams, argues that the John Adams last seen in Northumberland County, Virginia, in the 1650s might have later moved to Lancaster County, Virginia.
  If true, then he probably was not the father of John Adams (I).  John C. Adam’s family history builds on Margaret Wells’s work.  DNA testing has determined that Absalom Adams was related in some unknown fashion to Eunice’s ancestor Abraham Adams.

DNA testing has also found that Shute Adams (circa 1718-1766), druggist of London, England, was related in some unknown fashion to Abraham Adams and his brothers.
  Genealogical research found that Shute was the son of George Adams (1687-1724), goldsmith of Bristol, England, and his wife Mary Shute.  George Adams was a son of John and Mary Adams of Stanton Drew, Somerset, England.
  Circumstantial evidence suggests that John was the son of Richard Adams and his wife Elizabeth Sage of Stanton Drew (they had a son named John,
 and they were the only Adams couple in Stanton Drew known to be having children at about the time that George’s father John was born).  Richard and Elizabeth were having children in the 1650s and 1660s,
 so they were probably in the same age cohort as Dr. William, John, and Thomas Adams of Northumberland County, Virginia.  Dr. William, John, Thomas, and Richard Adams might be brothers or, if not, were likely some mix of brothers and cousins.
By 1731.  Born (based on being tithable in 1747).
1747.  Thomas Davis, Abraham Addams -- 2 tithes (“’A List of Tithabels Between Seeder run and Bool run in Ditigin parish in Prince William County [Virginia] for 1747.’”
) 
1749.  Abraham Adams was among the Fairfax County, Virginia, tithables listed by Charles Green, a local Church of England clergyman, in 1749.  Abraham was listed as having one white tithable in his household (presumably himself).
 
1750s-1760s.  A deposition made by Enoch Triplett in 1813 identifies Abraham Adams and his brothers (Daniel, Isaac, Jacob, and John) and places them in the Loudoun/Fauquier County, Virginia, area in the 1750s/1760s. This deposition said that Adams family lived on Goose Creek near the mouth of the Pantherskin Run.  There was more than one sister in the family, but their names are not given.  Their parents are also mentioned, but not identified by name.  The deposition states that Isaac Adams left, possibly for North Carolina, more than 30 years earlier (i.e., before 1783).  It also reports that Daniel Adams was the last of the family to live at the ford on the creek on land owned by Landon Carter.  He reportedly left there sometime before the Revolutionary War. 

3 April 1751.  The Action of Josiah Brooks against Abraham Adams and Edward Garret Abates by the death of the plaintiff.  (Fairfax County, Virginia, Court.)

29 July 1752.  In the trespass case of Benjamin Grayson, Gent., against John Adams, John Adams failed to appear and the court therefore ruled against him and Abraham Adams and Charles Hardin, who provided the "Common Bail" for John Adams (see Prince William County, Virginia, Minute Book, 1752-1753, p. 54). 
 
22 Mar. 1753, Abraham Adams, co-security for Sarah Brooks.  (Fairfax County, Virginia, Court.) 

25 Oct. 1756.  The Churchwardens of Hamilton Parish bound Anne Brook, 11 years of age, and Sarah Brook, 8 years of age, to Abraham Adams until they came of age (see Prince William County, Virginia, Order Book, 1755-1757, p. 238). 

1757.  Abraham Adams was made administrator of the estate of Elizabeth Adams, deceased, on 13 Sep. 1757 in Loudoun County, Virginia.

1758-1761.  Abraham Adams was among the customers of Daniel Payne, a merchant in Dumfries, Prince William County, Virginia.
 
14 Feb. 1759.  Abram Adams Acct. of Admon}

1758 The Estate of Elizabeth Adams to Abraham Adams Dv(?)
To Cash paid Mr. Landon Carter as pr. acct. prov'd … 

5.5.10 1/2
To Cash paid Charles Chinn as pr. Do … 



0.8.0
To paid Benja. Grayson lb. 597 of Crop Tobo. as pr. Do(?) 
597 … 
0.0.0
To Cash paid James McKenney as pr. acct. … 


0.6.6
To paid the Secratary as pr. Note … 


32 … 
0.0.0
To paid Mr. Charles Binns as pr. note … 


112 … 
0.0.0
To paid Mr. Wm. Ellzey as pr. note of hand … 

600 … 
0.0.0
To the expence at the appraisment instead of their fees … 

0.16.3
To Cash paid Benja. Sebastian as pr. receipt … 


0.15.0.
To 5pr.Ct. for Selling the Estate amounting to 87.18.11 … 

4.7.9
To 5pr.Ct. for paying off the Debts … 


67 … 
0.7.6







_________________





Crop 597 … 811 Trans(?) … 7.18.1(?)
pr. Contra … Ct.
By the sale of the Estate … 87.10.11
By the Crop of Tobacco … 1029
_________________
1029 & 87.10.11
Errors Excepted pr. Abraham Adams Admr.
At a Court Continued and held for Loudoun County the 14th day of Feby. 1759 The within Account of the Administration of the Estate of Elizabeth Adams Deceased was returned into Court with the several Vouchers by Abraham Adams the Administrator and being approved of by the Court was Ordered to be recorded.
Teste  Chas. Binns ? Cur.  
NB:  While the crop figures add up to the total given, the cash figures do not (using 12 pence per shilling and 20 shillings per pound).  Could be a transcription error of the clerk, a transcription error from the original record to here, an error in the original arithmetic, or some combination of these.
1759.  Abraham Adams is a tithable in Northeast District of Fauquier County, George Lamkin, commissioner.  He appears on the list between the Higgins (William and James) and William Hand.

14 Mar. 1759.  Thomas Harrison & Others, Exrs. of Benja. Grayson, Gent., deced. Plts. against Joshua Owens, Deft.  Upon an Attachment.  Continued till the next Court at the costs of Abraham Adams, the Garnishee. (Loudoun County, Virginia)

28 May 1761.  Terry, a slave of Abraham Adams, was adjudged to be ten years old.

1762.  Abraham Adams and John Rector, Jr., were sued by William Furr (see Fauquier Court Order/Minute Book 1, p. 281). 

1763.  Abraham Adams was a co-defendant, along with Sarah Brooks and Thomas Triplett, in a suit by William Ramsay (see Fauquier Court Order/Minute Book 2, p. 17). 

12/13 Jun. 1764.  Indenture made 12th/13th June 1764 between William Furr and Charity his wife of county Loudoun of the one part and Robert Scott of county Prince William … for sum One hundred and fifty pounds current money of Virginia … by deeds of lease and release … sold parcel of land situate in the counties of Loudoun and Fauquier bounded … beginning at a cluster of pines and at a stake in the line of Mr. Burgess deced … to a white oak in line Nichols and Triplett … down to Goose Creek … containing by estimation 280 acres of land …
William x Furr
Charity x Furr
Presence Alexr. Farrow, Abraham x Addams, Daniel x Addams, Thomas McDonowhow
At a court held 13th June 1764 … Indenture and receipt endorsed proved … at another court held 9th October in year aforesaid further proved … and at another court held 13th November in the year aforesaid further proved … ordered to be recorded.

27 Mar. 1767-1 Aug. 1767.  Survey in Fauquier County for Robert Donaldson of 62 acres on Goose Creek adjacent to Landon Carter, Esqr., Smith & Armistead, Simon Miller Wm Furr; the chain carriers were Richard McPherson & Abraham Adams; the surveyor was John Moffett.
 
August 1770.  Abraham Adams bought 590 acres in Rowan County on the south side of Grants Creek (aka Licking Creek) from Jacob Felker and Maudlina, his wife, of Rowan County on 16 Aug. 1770 for 137 pounds proclamation money.  The deed was recorded during the Aug. Term 1770 court.
  
4 Nov. 1771.  Abraham Adams of Rowan County bought 197 acres in Rowan County on the west side of Dutchmans Creek adjoining Squire Boone and Isaac Free from Richard Jacks, Sr., planter, and his wife, of Rowan County, on 4 Nov. 1771 for 40 pounds proclamation money.  The deed was recorded during the Feb Court 1772. 
 
1772-1787.  Abraham/Abram Adams appears on the tax rolls of Rowan County, North Carolina, in the following years:

· 1772--with son Daniel and "Negro" Jerry
· 1778--with tax bill of 8 pounds, 5 shillings, 1 pence
· 1784--with 590 acres, 2 whites, and 2 slaves
· 1787--with 2 white males greater than 60 or less than 21, 2 white females, and 5 slaves
5 Oct. 1772.  Abraham and Triphena Adams were among those who founded the Eaton Baptist Church in Rowan County, North Carolina. 

10 Sep. 1774.  Abraham Adams, planter, and his wife, Trifena, of Rowan County sold 197 acres on the west side of Dutchman's Creek adjoining Squire Boon and Isaac Free to Michal Beehem of Rowan County, planter, for 60 pounds, 14 shillings, 8 pence, proclamation money on 10 Sep. 1774. The deed was registered during the Feb. Term 1775.
 
The registration of the transfer of this deed can reportedly be found on Vol. 4, p. 63 of the Minutes of the Court of Pleas and Quarter Sessions, Rowan County, North Carolina.
 
5 August 1778.  Abraham Adams took an oath of allegiance to North Carolina at a session of the Rowan County, North Carolina, Court of Pleas and Quarter Sessions.  This might be either Abraham, Eunice’s ancestor or Abraham, his nephew.

1787.  Abraham Adams was one of the members of Eaton's Baptist Church.

31 July 1790. Jacob Booe took 100 acres of vacant land on Elisha Creek adjacent to his own land, Abraham Adams, Gregory Glasscock, Edmond Dedman, Solomon Davis, and Henry Baker. 

3 Oct. 1792.  Abraham Adams of Rowan County sold 590 acres on the south side of Grants Creek (aka Licking Creek) to George Mumford of Orange County, North Carolina, for 500 pounds specie on 3 Oct. 1792.  The deed was recorded during the August Sessions 1804. 

1793-1795.  Abraham Adams appears on the tax rolls of Clark County, Kentucky.  Based on the number of slaves in his possession, this would appear to be the father of Diana McMahan (most households at the time had no slaves, and those that did generally had only one or two; at the time of his death he had 14 slaves
).  He appears on the tax rolls for 
· 1793--(as Abraham Adams, Sr.) with 1 white male over 21, 8 slaves, 8 horses, 2 cattle
· 1794--with 1 white male over 21, 8 slaves, 8 horses, 2 cattle
· 1795--with 1 white male over 21, 8 slaves, 5 horses, 10 cattle
He disappears from the Clark County tax rolls after 1795.

1797-1815.  Abraham Adams (also Abram Adams, Abraham Addams, Abraham Adams, Sr.) appears in the tax records of Madison County in the following years:
· 1797
· 1799--with 1 white male over 21, 1 white male between 16 and 21, 10 slaves and 3 horses
· 1800--with 157 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 10 slaves, and 3 horses
· 1801--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 11 slaves, and 3 horses
· 1802--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 11 slaves, and 4 horses
· 1803--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 11 slaves, and 5 horses
· 1804--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 11 slaves, and 6 horses
· 1805--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 11 slaves, and 8 horses
· 1806--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 12 slaves, and 8 horses
· 1807--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 12 slaves, and 7 horses
· 1808--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 12 slaves, and 6 horses
· 1809--with 157 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 12 slaves, and 5 horses
· 1811--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 13 slaves, and 7 horses
· 1812--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 11 slaves, and 6 horses
· 1813--with 157 3/4 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, more than 1 slave, and more than 1 horse
· 1814--with 150 acres on Tates Creek, 1 white male over 21, 11 slaves, and 4 horses
· 1815--with 150 acres on Tates Creek, 10 slaves, and 3 horses
Abraham Adams does not appear in any Madison County tax lists after 1815.
 
7 Aug. 1798.  Abram Adams purchased 57 acres and 3 "roods" in Madison County, Kentucky, from John Eastin and his wife, Eleanor, for 50 pounds current money of Kentucky.  The property was on Tates Creek and neighbors abutting the property mentioned in the deed include Walter Adams.  The deed was recorded on 7 Aug. 1798. 

19 Sep. 1799.  The Kentucky Gazette, Vol. XIII, No. 678, 19 Sep. 1799, included information, dated 18 Sept. 1799, from an Abram Adams, who was living at the mouth of Tate's Creek in Madison County, concerning a runaway slave.
 
30 March 1800.  Abraham Adams purchased 100 acres in Madison County, Kentucky, from Walter Adams and his wife, Chloe, for 100 pounds lawful money of Kentucky.  The property was on Tates Creek.  The deed was recorded on 6 Oct. 1808. 
  Walter and Chloe, it might be noted, were his son-in-law and daughter.  
1810.  Federal Census return for Abraham Adams, Madison County, Kentucky:

--- Free white males under 10
--- Free white males 10 and under 16
--- Free white males 16 and under 26
--- Free white males 26 and under 45
1 Free white males 45 and older [Abraham]
--- Free white females under 10
--- Free white females 10 and under 16
--- Free white females 16 and under 26
--- Free white females 26 and under 45
1 Free white females 45 and older [Faner]
--- Free non-whites
? Slaves
Late 1815 or early 1816.  Abraham Adams Sr. died intestate (without a will) in Madison County, Kentucky.

Before he died, Abraham Adams was adjudged mentally incompetent.  His affairs were overseen by a group of “commissioners.”
9 Feb. 1816.  The personal estate of Abraham Adams, according to an inventory, included 14 slaves, 2 horses, 9 cattle and 3 calves, 8 sheep, and 32 hogs, along with various foodstuffs and household items. 

16 Feb. 1816.  Buyers at the sale of the personal estate of Abraham Adams, which occurred at the former residence of the deceased, included Walter Adams (probably his son-in-law), John Ball (probably his son-in-law), George Adams (possibly his grandson), Edward Beaty, John Woods, Sampson Stephens (probably his son-in-law), Peter Treble, Daniel Adams, Anthony Fullalove, Edward Duncan, Abraham Adams (possibly his son), Faner Adams (possibly his widow), Jesse Bailey, William Wayne, John Kunningham, William Ball (possibly his grandson), George Williams, William Perkins, Thomas Turner, James Steward, Travis Million, Sterling Johnson, Matthew Adams, Samuel Loyd, William Hill, Oswald Townsend (the Administrator of his estate), Luke Bryant (possibly his grandson-in-law), Silas Beck, Jacob Adams (possibly his son), Leonard Kidwell, L. Fullalove, James Loyd, and John Turner.  His slaves were hired out for the balance of 1816 to Silas Beck, Jacob Adams (possibly his son), Faner Adams (probably his widow), John Ball (probably his son-in-law), Isaac W. Wather, and Abraham Adams (possibly his son).  His farm was rented for the remainder of the year 1816 to John Ball (probably his son-in-law). 
 
13 Sep. 1816.  A petition was filed in the Madison County Circuit Court on 13 Sep. 1816 by John and Nancy (Adams) Ball, heirs of Abraham Adams, deceased, to have the property of the deceased divided up amongst his heirs.  The petition read as follows:
  
(1) Ball & ux
(
vs     )      Petition
(
Adams heirs
To the honorable William McDowell Judge of the circuit court of Madison County, Your Petitioners John Ball and Nancy Ball his wife late Nancy Adams (the said Nancy Ball late Nancy Adams, being one of the heirs & Representatives of Abraham Adams deceased) humbly complaining would respectfully state to you[r] Honor - That Abraham Adams the the an[cestor of ] the said Nancy Ball (late Nancy Adams[) departed] this life in the county of Madison on the [???] day last past intestate (leaving besides your Petitioner Nancy Ball) Leaner Stephens the wife of Sampson Stevens, Diana MacMahan the wife of Thomas McMahan, Abraham Ada[ms Junr,] Cloe Adams the wife of Walter Adams, [Jacob] Adams, & Daniel Adams Milly March, late Milly Adams, Elizabeth Glasscock late Elizabeth Adams (of whom Daniel Adams, Milly March & Elizabeth Glasscock departed this life before the dea[th of the said Abraham Adams, deceased leaving] children heirs & Representatives - [That the] said Daniel Adams left at his decease as his heirs & Representatives, his children George Adams and Faner Welch late Faner Adams - That the said Milley March late Milly Adams was first intermarried with a certain Job Garner by whom she had two children, to wit John & Job Garner that after the decease of her husband Job Garner she intermarried with a certain George March by whom the said Milly had ten children to wit Susanah, Nancy, George, Abraham, Elizabeth, Cloye, Milly, Jacob, Faner [& Squire] March, The said twelve children by Garner and March being the heirs & Representatives of the said Milly March deceased - That the said Elizabeth Glasscock late Elizabeth Adams left as heirs & Representatives her children Daniel, Jesse, Faner, Enoch, Peter, Abraham & Jacob Glasscock - Your Petit[ioners] would further state to your honor, that the said Abraham Adams the ancestor of your Petitioner Nancy Ball, left to descend to his said Children or the heirs of those deceased the following negroes slaves of the Estate of the said Abraham Adams decd. to wit, Ceasor, Frank, Jesse, Enoch, Rose, Phillis, Beck, Leaner, David, Sam, Will, [ Squ]ire, Pat, &       Your Petitioners further [state] that the said Decd. left Fanor Adams his [widow] and relict who is entitled for her [dow]er in the said negroes of said Decedents Estate, to one third of said negroes, but that said Faner Adams has not had her dower allotted in said descendants Estate - Your Petitioners [f]urther state that the said negroes cannot be divided in kind among the heirs of said [A]braham Adams deceased on account of the great difference of value in said negroes -Your Petitioners further state to your honor that the said Abraham Adams left to descend to his said heirs 15[7.3 acres of land lying on the] waters of Tates Creek in the county of Madison aforesaid [more fully appear by rep??? To the said Abraham Adams ??? of and from John Easten & wife ??? fifty seven acres & / ???] which are herewith filed that said land is also subject to the Dower of said Faner Adams the widow of said Abraham Adams deceased, but the same has not been allotted to said widow, nor has the same been demanded by her, your Petitioners further state that the land aforesaid including that part which might be allotted to the widow would not sell for a price that would amount to $100 to each of the children of said Abraham Adams deceased - Wherefore your Petitioners pray that your honor will decree that the whole of the negroes aforesaid, if the said widow shall not have her dower allotted, and if she shall have her Dower allotted in said negroes then the balance of said said negroes, which shall not be allotted said widow for her Dower  and also the whole of the land aforesaid subject to the said widows Dower then shall be sold on such as our honor shall think me[et] according to the acct of assembly [in] such cases made and provided and that the proceeds thereof to be equally divided among the heirs of said Abraham Adams deceased, according to the legal rights [of] each heir, that [???] your honor will summons to issue against the said Defts, heirs of said Abraham Adams deceased, c[ommanding] the[m] to appear [before the ??? at] the next Month Term of this co[urt] to show cause if any they can why a sale should not be made of the negroes & lands aforesaid agreeable to the prayer of this Petition and grant to your Petitioners such other and further relief as the nature of their case may require and the equity belong and your Petitioners as in duty bound will ever pray.
John Ball
Nancy Ball
Filed 13 September 1817
Abraham Adams owned a little over 157 acres of land in Madison County, Kentucky (along Tate Creek) at the time of his death.
Abraham Adams Jr. and the heirs of Daniel Adams were apparently living in Shelby County, Kentucky, at the time of the death of Abraham Adams.  An attempt to find them was included in the case file.
Thomas and Diana McMahan responded to the petition from Howard County, MO, in 1817.  Their response is included in the case file.
The petition, plus other information in the case file revealed the following family tree:
1.Abraham Adams (?-c.1816) + Faner ?
2.Nancy Adams + John Ball
2.Leaner Adams + Sampson Stevens
2.Diana Adams + Thomas McMahan
2.Abraham Adams Jr.
2.Cloe Adams + Walter Adams
2.Jacob Adams
2.Daniel Adams + ?
3.George Adams
3.Faner Adams + ? Welch
2.Amelia "Milly" Adams + 1) Job Garner
3.John Garner
3.Job Garner
2.Amelia "Milly" Adams + 2) George March
3.Susannah March + Charles Hinkle
3.Nancy March
3.George March
3.Abraham March
3.Elizabeth March
3.Cloye March
3.Milly March
3.Jacob March
3.Thomas March
3.Squire March
2.Elizabeth Adams + ? Glasscock
3.Daniel Glasscock
3.Jesse Glasscock
3.Faner Glasscock
3.Enoch Glasscock
3.Peter Glasscock
3.Abraham Glasscock
3.Jacob Glasscock
4 Aug. 1818.  A Settlement Report with Oswald Townsend, Administrator of Abraham Adams, deceased, was prepared and submitted on 4 August 1818.  It was recorded on 3 [sic] August 1818.  The value of the estate at the time of the settlement was $3226.82 3/4.
 
11 Aug. 1820.  A Settlement Report with Oswald Townsend, Administrator of Abraham Adams, deceased, was prepared and submitted 11 August 1820.  It was recorded 2 Oct. 1820.  The balance due the Legatees from the estate was $2144.74 1/2.
 
71
Triphena (“Faner”) ???
The given name of Triphena (“Faner”) appearing in the record varied.  In addition to Triphena and its shortened form, Faner, she was called Bethany, Bethena, Perthany, and Sophena.  Because of this overabundance of given names, some descendants argue that Abraham Adams had more than one wife.  She is identified as “Triphena” in 1772 and 1774 Rowan County, North Carolina, church membership and land records, and “Triphena” and “Sophena”(!) in her 1819 and 1828 Garrard County, Kentucky, probate records, however, indicating that the same woman was being referred to in all years.  
Triphena was evidently much admired and loved by her family.  Faner and its variant, Fanah, were included among the popular names given to females descending from her for several generations. 
About 1731.  Born (based on age given in 1814 deposition).
 
5 Oct. 1772.  Abraham and Triphena Adams were among those who founded the Eaton Baptist Church in Rowan County, North Carolina. 

10 Sep. 1774.  Abraham Adams, planter, and his wife, Trifena, of Rowan County sold 197 acres on the west side of Dutchman's Creek adjoining Squire Boon and Isaac Free to Michal Beehem of Rowan County, planter, for 60 pounds, 14 shillings, 8 pence, proclamation money on 10 Sep. 1774. The deed was registered during the Feb. Term 1775.
 

The registration of the transfer of this deed can reportedly be found on Vol. 4, p. 63 of the Minutes of the Court of Pleas and Quarter Sessions, Rowan County, North Carolina.
 

1814.  Bethena Adams, the wife of Abraham Adams provided a deposition for a Fauquier County, Virginia, court case.  In that deposition she gave her age as 83, and indicated that she had lived within 2 or 3 miles of the home of Alice Gibson, and Moses Gibson, Alice's son, in the Fauquier/Loudoun County area for over 20 years.  She was at her home in Madison County, Kentucky, when she made the deposition.
 
28 Dec. 1816.  Perthany Adams, widow of Abraham Adams, was allotted 52 acres of land formerly owned by Abraham Adams, including the family house.  Neighbors abutting the property mentioned in the dower allotment include William Fullalove, Walter Adams, and "Jones".  This dower allottment was recorded on 6 Jan. 1817. 

About 1819.  Died in Garrard County, Kentucky.
May 1819.  Appraisal of the estate of Triphena Adams dec'd, Garrard County, Kentucky.
  
Authorized:  May Term 1819, Garrard County Court
Items: Include 
One note on Abraham Adams for $68.15(?)
One note on Christian ? and Robert Stephens for $46.00(?)
Signed:
Walter Adams, Adminsr.
George Simpson
James Fletcher
George Hardin
Recorded:  1820(?)
1828.  Probate record – final settlement of accounts, Garrard County, Kentucky.
 
Agreeable to an order of the honorable court of Garrard County bearing date July Term 1821 We Tyree Harris & John Bryant Proceeded to settle the accounts of Walter Adams administrator of the estate of Sophena Adams (decd) late of Garrard County and Commonwealth of Kentucky Which we do as follows (to wit)
Walter Adams administrator as aforesaid
Dr $.cts
To the amount of the sale Bill of sd estate - 64.54 1/2
One note Christian Spau for - 45.00
One Do. on Abraham Adams - 38.50
Amount of her right of Dower - $294.75
Amt. - 442.79 1/2
Credits 442.79 1/2
Balance ... ...
Walter Adams Administrator as aforesaid
Cr. $. cts
By cash paid Thomas Mahan one of the Legatees - 32.75
Cash paid Abraham Adams - Ditto - 32.75
Cash paid Sampson Stevens Ditto - 32.75
Cash paid the Heirs of Glasco do. 32.75
[p. 260]
$. cts
Cash paid Marches Heirs - Do - 32.75
Cash paid John Bell  Do - 32.75
Cash paid Murphy & Williams on acct. 11.00
Cash paid Doctors Mason & Gill - Ditto 6.00
Cash paid Jesse L. Jackson for a coffin 16.00
Cash paid Daniel Breck attorney for council 10.00
By an allowance made the administrator for his service moving the old Lady from Madison taking care of her & her property till death 105.79 1/2(?)
Cash paid the clerk of Madison 75 [NB: cents]
Cash paid the clerk of Garrard 75 [NB: cents]
Cash paid the commissioners of Settlement 6.00
442.79 1/2
[p. 261 - NB:  does not directly follow previous material]
We your undersigned commissioners after settling the accts. of Walter Adams Administrator of Sophena Adams Decd Do find that said administrator has paid all the Legatees their proportion of said Estate and finally settled his administrationship Given under our hands this the 21st day of January Anno Dom 1828
The Honourable Court of Garrard County
Tyree Harris
John Bryant

NB:  Walter Adams was Triphena’s son-in-law, not her son.
[image: image3.png]
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Bartlett GWINN
Before 5 Mar. 1757.  Marriage to Catherine “ffembrag” or “ffermbra” [Fambrough] (based on date of birth of first child).  Note that “ff” was just an old way of writing an uppercase “f” (ff = F).
5 Mar. 1757.  Birth of son Benjamin Guin in Goochland County, Virginia.
 
22 Mar. 1757.  Baptism of son Benjamin Guin in St. James Northam Parish, Goochland County, Virginia.
 
1 June 1759.  Birth of daughter Mary Gwine in Goochland County, Virginia.
 
17 June 1759.  Baptism of daughter Mary Gwine in St. James Northam Parish, Goochland County, Virginia.
 
About 1761.  Birth of son Nicholas Gwinn.
 
About 1763.  Birth of son William Allen Gwinn.
 
June 1763.  June Court 1763, Halifax County, Virginia.  Peter Johnson, Plaintiff, vs. Bartlet Gwinn, Defendant.  Petition.  The court ruled for the plaintiff and ordered the defendant to pay for the plaintiff’s costs, per the agreement reached between the two parties. (See Plea Book 4, p. 97.)
 
October 1763.  October Court 1763, Halifax County, Virginia. George Evans was appointed  surveyor of the road from Pole Bridge to Pole cat Creek.  He and the male tithables of the following were assigned to clear the road and keep it in repair:  Ezekial Slaughter, William Gent, Bartlet Gwin, Daniel Terry. John Moore, Garrot Fitzgerald, John Atkinson, and Littleberry Strange. (See Plea Book 4, p. 220.)
 
1765.  In Halifax County, Virginia, William Echols transferred two tracts of land to Moses Hendrick for "natural love & affection" on 16 Jan. 1765.  One of the tracts, consisting of 274 acres, was the property upon which Bartlet Gwin resided.
 
8 Aug. 1765.  Birth of son Bartholmew Gwinn in Halifax County, Virginia.
 
About 1767.  Birth of son Almon Gwinn.
   Almon was probably born in Halifax County, Virginia.
August 1768.  August Court 1768, Halifax County, Virginia.  [Blank] Adams, Plaintiff against Bartlet Gwin, Defendant, in Debt.  Thomas Fambrough of Halifax County promised to pay the “Costs and Condemnation of the Court” for the defendant (or else surrender his person for imprisonment), should that prove necessary.  He then delivered the defendant. (Plea Book 6, pp. 258-259.)
 
August 1768.  August Court 1768, Halifax County, Virginia.  Thomas Finney, Plaintiff against Bartlet Gwin, Defendant, in Debt.  Thomas Fambrough of Halifax County promised to pay the “Costs and Condemnation of the Court” for the defendant (or else surrender his person for imprisonment), should that prove necessary.  He then delivered the defendant. (Plea Book 6, p. 259)
 
About 1769.  Birth of son Bartlett probably in Halifax County, Virginia.
 
1769.  March Court 1769, Halifax County, Virginia.  Thomas Finney, Plaintiff against Bartlet Gwin, Defendant, in Debt.  The defendant acknowledged his debt to the plaintiff of £20 current money.  The court ruled that the defendant owed the debt, plus court costs of the plaintiff.  It further stated that the debt could be discharged by the payment of £10 current money, plus legal interest on £5 beginning 1 June 1763 and legal interest on £5 beginning 1 June 1764.  (Plea Book 6, p. 291)
 
1769.  March Court 1769, Halifax County, Virginia.  Richard Adams, Plaintiff against Bartlet Gwin, Defendant, in Debt.  The defendant didn’t appear in court, so it ruled for the plaintiff.  (Plea Book 6, pp. 318-319) 
 
1769.  Survey by Robert Wooding, Halifax County, Virginia :  13 Nov. 1769, 240 acres on Branches of Terrible Creek for Bartelot Gwin. (see Deed Book 8, p. 159).
 
1771.  In the last will and testament of Owen Brady, dated 16 June 1771 and probated in Halifax County, Virginia, Bartlett Gwinn was named one of three executors.  Catren (x) Gwin was a witness to the will.  Bartlett Gwinn and the others named in the will refused to be executors.
 
1772.  November Court 1772, Halifax County, Virginia.  Bartlet Gwinn moved that Betty Ann Brady pay his wife 174 pounds of tobacco for his wife’s attendance for 7 days at court as a witness for Brady in her case against Daniel Easley.  The court so ordered. (Plea Book 7, Part 2, p. 531)
 
1778.  1 Feb. 1778.  Alman Guin (Gwinn) of Antrim Parish and Halifax County, to Bartlett Guin (Gwinn) of same, 514 acres on branches and south fork of Terrible Creek (land patented by Allman Guin on 7 Dec. 1774) for £50.  Signed:  Alman (x) Gwin.  Wit:  None.  Recorded 19 March 1778.  (see Deed Book 10, p. 432)
 
1778.  18 Nov. 1778.  Thomas Farmbrough Sr. to William Gates.  About 200 acres for £170.  Adj. William Robertson, Bartlet Gwin, Milstone Road, John Milner, William Robertson, Anthony Buckner.  Signed:  Thomas (x) Farmbrough.  Wit:  Thomas (T) Bryan, Nancy (x) Bryan, Dan’l McCraw.  Recorded  19 Nov. 1778, Halifax County, Virginia. (see Deed Book 11, p. 156)
  
1779.  28 Sept. 1779.  John Milner and Obadiah Echoles of Antrim Parish and Halifax County to James McCraw of same.  About 400 acres on branches of Bradleys Creek for £1250.   Adj. William Gates (formerly Thomas Finney), Millner.  Signed:  John Millner, Obediah Echoles.  Wit:  Benjamin Hunt, Benjamin (+) Abbott, Bartlett (+) Gwinn.  Recorded 21 April 1780.  (see Deed Book 11, p. 436) 

1 March 1781.  Bartlet Guin was granted 400 acres on the head branches of Terrible, Bradley, and Spider Creeks in Halifax County, Virginia, by the Commonwealth of Virginia.  The land was surveyed on 1 December 1769.
 
1783.  20 Oct. 1783.  Stapp (Staph) Roberts of Amelia County to Micajah Hampton of Halifax County.  About 178 acres on Spider Creek for £40.  Adj. Bartlett Guinn, Millstone Road, Dean.  Signed:  Stap Robeads.  Wit:  Joseph Collins, William Chandler, Anderson Fambrough.  (see Deed Book 12, p. 407) 

1786.  14 Feb. 1786.  Adam Chisholm and Bartlet Gwin (Gwinn) to Henry Barnes.  About 100 acres upon which Adam Chisholm lives for £125.  Adj. James McCraw, John Coleman, Clermercy Fountain, William Robertson, and Bartlett Gwinn.  Also 13 acres bounded by William Robertson and Chizholm.  Signed:  Adam Chisholm, Bartlett (B) Gwinn.  Wit:  James McCraw, William P (x) Green, William Robertson, John Bailey, William Gates, William Green, Almond Gwinn.  Recorded 28 Dec. 1789.  (see Deed Book 14, p. 535) 
 
1786.  Bartlet Gwin of Halifax County, Virginia, sold about 100 acres on Terrible Creek to David Mullins of Charlotte County, Virginia, for £50 on 17 May 1786.
 
1786.  29 Sept. 1786.  Bartlet Guin of Halifax County and Antrim Parish to William Pryer Green of same.  About 100 acres upon which Green now lives (it is part of patent dated 7 Dec. 1774) on branches of south fork of Terrable Creek.  Adj. Henry Barnes, Bartholomew Guin.  Signed:  Bartlet (x) Guin.  Wit:  Bartholomew (x) Guin, Will (William) (x) Guin, Allman (x) Gwin.  Recorded 23 April 1792.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 338) 

26 April 1787.  Bartlet Guinn was visited by the taxman concerning his Halifax County, Virginia, personal property taxes.  He had 1 white male over 21, 2 horses, and 3 cattle, and was identified not being tithable.  His likely neighbors included the following, all of whom were visited by the taxman on the same day that Bartlet was (the names are given in alphabetical order, not visitation order): 

	Reuben Abney
	David Mullins

	Henry Bass
	Davis Petty

	Samuel Bates
	Francis M. Petty

	Reuben Bomer
	Harbin Petty

	John Carter
	Michael Prewett

	David Cheatham
	John Rose

	William P. Green
	Peter Royster

	Alman Guinn
	Elizabeth Tucker

	Bartholomew Guinn
	William Vaughn

	Nicholaus Guinn
	James Wilkinson

	Mark Milner
	


1788.  Bartlet Guin of Halifax County, Virginia, sold about 100 acres on Terrible, Spider, and Bradley Creeks to William Lane for £25 on 14 Aug. 1788.  Property owned by David Mullins was adjacent. 

1789.  30 Sept. 1789.  Bartlet Guin of Halifax County to Allmon Guin of same.  About 100 acres where Allmon Guin lives for £5.  Adj. Nicholas Guin, Fountain.  Signed:  Bartlet (x) Guin.  Wit:  Nicholas Guin, William (x) Guin), Sarah (x) Mullins.  Recorded 28 Feb 1791.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 68.) 

1789.  Bartlet Guin sold about 100 acres on Terrible and Spider Creeks in Halifax County, Virginia, to Elizabeth Gray of Charlotte County, Virginia, for 18 pounds on 16 Nov. 1789.  Adjacent properties include land owned by Micajah Hampton and David Mullins. 

1790.  19 Oct. 1790.  Bartelot (Bartlet) Guin of Antrim Parish and Halifax County to William Guin of same.  About 40 acres on branches of Terrible Creek for £20.  Adj. Fountain.  Signed:  Bartelet (B) Guin.  Wit:  Allman (x) Guin, William (x) Mullins Jr., William McCraw Jr., Samuel McCraw.  Recorded 25 April 1791.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 96) 

1790.  28 Nov. 1790.  Bartlett Guinn of Antrim Parish and Halifax County to James McCraw Jr. of same.  About 100 acres (where Nicholas Guinn lived), in trust to James McCraw, Hector NcNeill and Company, on a branch of Terrible Creek for 5 shillings in hand and debt owed by Nicholas Guinn.  Trust to last till next 25 Nov.  Signed:  Bartlett (B) Guinn.  Wit:  William Phelps, Joseph Mullins, William Carr, Jno C McCraw.  Recorded 25 July 1791.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 165) 

1791.  1 Feb. 1791.  Isaac Coles of Halifax County to Nathaniel Terry of same.  About 888 1/2 acres on Banister River for £888 10 shillings.  Adj. Calder, Bibbs Ferry Road, main road, lower Bridge.  Signed:  Isaac Coles.  Wit:  B. Guin, Wm.  Terry, Robert Terry, John Wooding.  Recorded 27 June 1791.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 134)

1792.  23 Nov. 1792.  William Lane of Halifax County and Antrim Parish to Ambrose Hunt (Hart?) of same.  About 100 acres on the head of Terrable Creek (part of survey made for Bartlet Gwin and conveyed by Gwin to William Lane by deed dated 27 Nov. 1787) for £30.  Adj. David Mullins.  Signed:  William Lane.  Wit:  None.  Recorded 28 Jan 1793.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 499)
 
1793.  23 ___ 1793.  David Mullins of Halifax County to son Abner Mullins (deed of gift).  After death of David and wife, Athaliah, 100 acres (part of survey granted to Bartlet Guin for 400 acres on heads of Terrible, Bradleys, and Spider Creeks) on south fork of Bradleys Creek and main branch of Turrible Creek.  Adj. Thomas Hornsby, Millstone Road, Owens Ferry Road.  Signed:  David (D) Mullins.  Wit:  George Priddy, Absolom Lain, Micajah (M) Hampton.  Recorded 25 April 1796.  (see Deed Book 16, p. 552)
 
1795.  26 Oct. 1795.  Elizabeth Burch Gray and Nancy Gray of Halifax County and Antrim Parish to Tommey Lane of same.  About 100 acres (part of a survey of 400 acres granted by patent to Bartlet Guin on 1 March 1781) on head branches of Terrible, Bradley, and Spider Creeks for £20.  Adj. David Mullins, Matthew Bates, Ambrose hart, Millstone Road, Bartlet Guin, Bookers Road, Richard Chick.  Signed:  Elizabeth B (+) Grey, Nancy (+) Grey.  Wit:  None.  Recorded 26 Oct. 1795.  (see Deed Book 16, p. 432)

1796.  25 July 1796.  Henry Barnes to William Phelps. About 113 acres on both sides of Terrible Creek (which Henry Barnes purchased from Adam Chisholm and Bartlet Gwinn by deed) for £125.  Adj. James McCraw, John Coleman (formerly Fountain), William Robertson, William Preer Green, William Phelps.  Signed:  Henry Barnes.  Wit:  None.  Recorded 25 July 1796.  (see Deed Book 16, p. 677) 

1800.  Reports dated 25 June and 3 July 1800 by W. M. Watkins, agent in Charlotte and Halifax Counties, Virginia, for Alexander Spiers, John Bowman and Co., state that Bartlett Gwinn owed the company’s Halifax County store £7.1.2½ and “Died solvent before conclusion of the war.”

77
Catherine FAMBROUGH
NB:  Early on, her surname was written “ffembrag” [Fembrag] and “ffermbra” [Fermbra], and her brother Thomas’s surname was written “Farmer” and “Farmbrough.”
  
1771.  In the last will and testament of Owen Brady, dated 16 June 1771 and probated in Halifax County, Virginia, Bartlett Gwinn was named one of three executors.  Catren (x) Gwin was a witness to the will.  Bartlett Gwinn and the others named in the will refused to be executors. 
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David D. MULLINS
5 Jan. 1780.  David D. Mullins bought the land in Charlotte County, Virginia, that his sisters had inherited from their father.

5 April 1785.  David D. Mullins sold the land in Charlotte County, Virginia, that he had purchased from his sisters and shortly thereafter moved to Halifax County, Virginia. 

17 Mar 1786.  Bartlet Gwin of Halifax County and Antrim Parish sold David Mullins of Charlotte County about 100 acres where James Johnson recently lived near Terrible Creek  adjoining Milstone Road, Richard Priddies, Bartlet Gwin, and James Chisholm.  Signed:  Bartlet (B) Gwin.  Wit:  John Williams, Anderson Farmbrough, Allman Gwin, Dudley Glass.  Recorded 10 July 1786.  (see Deed Book 13, p. 442). 
  
26 April 1787.  David Mullins was visited by the taxman concerning his Halifax County, Virginia, personal property taxes.  His neighbors included the following, all of whom were visited by the taxman on the same day as David (the names are given in alphabetical order, not visitation order): 

	Reuben Abney
	Mark Milner

	Henry Bass
	Davis Petty

	Samuel Bates
	Francis M. Petty

	Reuben Bomer
	Harbin Petty

	John Carter
	Michael Prewett

	David Cheatham
	John Rose

	William P. Green
	Peter Royster

	Alman Guinn
	Elizabeth Tucker

	Bartholomew Guinn
	William Vaughn

	Bartlet Guinn
	James Wilkinson

	Nicholaus Guinn
	


16 Nov. 1789.  Bartlet Guin of Halifax County and Antrim Parish to Elizabeth Gray of Charlotte County.  About 100 acres at heads of Terrible and Spider Creeks (part of survey of 400 acres dated 1 Dec. 1769) for £18.  Adj. Bookers Road, Micajah Hampton, David Mullins, Milstone Road.  Signed:  Bartlet (x) Guin.  Wit:  James Bower, Edward (x) Polley, William (~) Mullins.  Recorded 24 May 1790.  (see Deed Book 14, p. 597).

22 Oct. 1792.  Betsey Gray Burch of Halifax County to Tomme Lane (Lain) of Campbell County.  About 100 acres for £20.  Adj. William Lain, David Mullins, Nick Guinn, Richard Chick, Mathew Bates.  Signed:  Betsey Gray (x) Burch.  Wit:  Almond (x) Gwin, John Byrn, Meredith Compton.  Recorded 22 Oct. 1792.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 430). 

23 Nov. 1792.  William Lane of Halifax County and Antrim Parish to Ambrose Hunt (Hart?) of same.  About 100 acres on the head of Terrable Creek (part of survey made for Bartlet Gwin and conveyed by Gwin to William Lane by deed dated 27 Nov. 1787) for £30.  Adj. David Mullins.  Signed:  William Lane.  Wit:  None.  Recorded 28 Jan 1793.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 499).

23 ___ 1793.  David Mullins of Halifax County to son Abner Mullins (deed of gift).  After death of David and wife, Athaliah, 100 acres (part of survey granted to Bartlet Guin for 400 acres on heads of Terrible, Bradleys, and Spider Creeks) on south fork of Bradleys Creek and main branch of Turrible Creek.  Adj. Thomas Hornsby, Millstone Road, Owens Ferry Road.  Signed:  David (D) Mullins.  Wit:  George Priddy, Absolom Lain, Micajah (M) Hampton.  Recorded 25 April 1796.  (see Deed Book 16, p. 552).

26 Oct. 1795.  Elizabeth Burch Gray and Nancy Gray of Halifax County and Antrim Parish to Tommey Lane of same.  About 100 acres (part of a survey of 400 acres granted by patent to Bartlet Guin on 1 March 1781) on head branches of Terrible, Bradley, and Spider Creeks for £20.  Adj. David Mullins, Matthew Bates, Ambrose hart, Millstone Road, Bartlet Guin, Bookers Road, Richard Chick.  Signed:  Elizabeth B (+) Grey, Nancy (+) Grey.  Wit:  None.  Recorded 26 Oct. 1795.  (see Deed Book 16, p. 432). 

1800.  David Mullins was among the qualified voters of Halifax County, Virginia, in 1800.

1800.  David D. Mullins was living in Buncombe County, North Carolina at the time of the 1800 Federal Census. 

1810.  David D. Mullins was living in Buncombe County, North Carolina at the time of the 1810 Federal Census. 

About 1821.  Died in Buncombe County, North Carolina.
  Buried in Laine Cemetery, Wilson County, Tennessee.
  It appears on the surface to be illogical that he died in Buncombe County, and then was carted to Wilson County to be buried.   
79
Athaliah ???
Athaliah’s maiden name is traditionally identified as being Boyd.  There is no hard evidence for that name, however.  Another surname that has been suggested is Watts.  One Mullins family 

… researcher speculated that Athaliah was a Watts based on the fact that David and Athaliah named a daughter Mary Watts Mullins (1782-1851) who married John Laine III 7 Oct 1797 in Halifax Co, VA. 

It is likely that Mary was named after a grandmother.  Watts might be that grandmother’s maiden name.  Her paternal grandmother was named Susannah, so if Mary was named after a grandmother, then she is named after her maternal grandmother.  This, of course, is pure speculation.
About 1821.  Died in Buncombe County, North Carolina. 
  Buried in Laine Cemetery, Wilson County, Tennessee.
  It appears on the surface to be illogical that she died in Buncombe County and then her body was carted to Wilson County to be buried.  If she is buried in Wilson County, then it is likely that she died there, as well.
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80
John HAMPTON
About 1730.  Birth of son John Hampton Jr. (based on first appearance in Amelia County tax lists in 1746).
About 1733.  Birth of presumed son Nathan Hampton (based on first appearance in Amelia County tax lists in 1749).
About 1737.  Birth of son Micajah Hampton (based on first appearance in Amelia County tax lists in 1753).
1739.  William Eckhols petitioned the court, and Paul Pigg, Matthew Talbert, Bat. Austin, George Hamm, and John Hampton were ordered taken off William Clement's road and ordered to Eckhols's road. (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for April 20, 1739; see Court Order Book 1, p. 65.)
 
1740.  John Hampton - 1 tithe (Amelia County tithable list of John Burton above Flatt Creek). 

1740.  On 28 June, 1740, George Marchbanks of Amelia County sold John Hampton of Amelia County 200 acres in Amelia County on Walkers Creek near the property of George Marchbanks, Franklin's and Walker's property for £20 current money of Virginia.  The land was part of a patent granted to George Marchbanks on 29 June 1739.  Richd. Eckhols, John Gillintine, and William Jackson witnessed the deed.  George Marchbanks signed the deed.  Possession of the property was obtained on 28 June 1740.  Ann, wife of George Marchbanks, relinquished her dower rights and the deed was ordered recorded on 18 July 1740 (Amelia County Deed Book 1, pp. 238-239). 

1740.  The deed of George Marchbanks to John Hampton was ordered recorded after Ann Marchbanks relinquished her dower rights. (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for July 16, 1740; see Court Order Book 1, p. 116.) 

1741.  John Hamton - 1 tithe (Amelia County tithable list of John Burton above Flatt Creek).

1742.  William Clement Senr, John Hampton, Seaser, Chester, Sash, Philis, Lucy - 8 tithes (Amelia County William Clements betw Flatt and Appomattox).
 
1743.  John Hamton - 1 tithe (Amelia County tithable list of William Clements betw Flatt and Appomattox). 

1743.  John Hampton was among those sworn for a grand jury (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for Nov. 18, 1743; see Court Order Book 1, p. 220). 

1744.  John Hampton - 1 tithe (Amelia County tithable list of William Clements betw Flatt and Appomattox). 

1744.  John Hampton was among those sworn for the jury for the case of Henry Vaughan vs. Patrick Adams (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for 19 May 1744; see Court Order Book 1, p. 268). 
 
1744.  John Hampton vs. James Collins continued (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for 19 May 1744; see Court Order Book 1, p. 270). 

About 1746.  Birth of son Collins Hampton (based on first appearance in Amelia County tax lists in 1762).
1746.  John Hampton, Jno Hampton Junr - 2 tithes (Amelia County tithable list of Thomas Tabb betw Flatt and Appomattox).

1746.  John Hampton was among those sworn for the jury in the Trespass action of Charles Barrett, plt., vs. David Neale, deft. (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for 21 Nov. 1746; see Court Order Book 2, p. 27).
 
1747.  William Sewards Tithab, John Hamton, Harry, Congo, Cudgo, Pompy, Phillis, Margrit, Clorendo - 8 tithes (Amelia County tithable list of Thomas Tabb above Flatt). 

1747.  John Hampton was among those whose testimony resulted in Richard Eckhols being found guilty of willful and corrupt perjury (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for 15 May 1747; see Court Order Book 2, p. 40). 

1747.  John Hampton was among those sworn for a grand jury (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for 20 Nov. 1747; see Court Order Book 2, p. 58).
 
1748.  John Hampton, William Walden(?), John Hampton Jun - 2 tithes  (Amelia County tithable list of Thomas Tabb above Flatt). 

1749.  John Hamton - 1 tithable (Amelia County tithable list of Thos. Burton). 

1749.  Mr William Seward [word/name illegible] John Hampton, Harry, Congo, Pompey, Philis, Clac, Corinder - 7 tithables (Amelia County tithable list of Thomas Tabb, Raleigh Parish). 

1749.  On 21 July 1749, William Marchbanks of Amelia County, planter, sold Andrew Lester of Amelia County, planter, an estimated 275 acres in Amelia County adjacent to Andrew Lester's corner on William Hurt's line, Joseph Collins's line, Mary Anne Marchbanks's line, Ursula Marchbanks's corner and line, John Hampton's corner and line, and Andrew Lester's corner and line for £25 current money of Virginia.  Wm. Marchbanks signed the deed.  No witnesses were mentioned.  Andrew Lester obtained possession on 21 July 1749, and the deed was ordered recorded (Amelia County Deed Book 3, pp. 276-278.) 
 
1750.  On 18 Jan. 1750, John Smith Junr. of Royleigh Parish, Amelia County, sold John Hamton Senr. of Royleigh Parish, Amelia County, an estimated 200 acres in Amelia County on the south side of Sandy Creek adjoining "the old line", L?il's line, and Jacob Seay's line for £30 current money of Virginia.  John Smith Junr [his mark] signed the deed.  No witnesses were  mentioned.  John Hampton obtained possession on 18 Jan. 1750 and the deed was ordered recorded after Elizabeth, wife of John Smith Jr., relinquished her dower rights. (Amelia County Deed Book 3, pp. 543-544.) 
  
1750.  On 18 Jan. 1750, John Hampton of Amelia County sold George Evings [also Evans] of Amelia County 200 acres in Amelia County on Walker's Creek, adjoining Luis Franklin's line and George Marchbanks's line for £70 current money of Virginia. The land was part of a tract of land granted George Marchbanks by patent dated 29 June 1739.  John Hamton [his mark] signed the deed.  No witnesses were mentioned.  George Evings obtained possession on 18 Jan. 1750 and the deed was ordered recorded after Mary, wife of John Hampton, relinquished her dower rights. (Amelia County Deed Book 3, pp. 546-547.) 
  
1750/51.  The deed of John Smith Jr. to John Hampton was ordered recorded.  Elizabeth, wife of John Smith Jr., relinquished her dower rights (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for 18 Jan. 1750/51; see Court Order Book 2, p. 296). 

1750/51.  The deed of John Hampton to George Evans was ordered recorded.  Mary, wife of John, relinquished her dower rights (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for 18 Jan. 1750/51; see Court Order Book 1, p. 296). 
 
1751.  John Hampton Senr - 1 tithable (Amelia County tithable list of Thomas Tabb). 
 
1751.  John Hampton - 1 tithable (Amelia County tithable list of Thomas Tabb). 
 
1752.  John Hampton - 1 tithable (Amelia County tithable list of Jno Nash, Nottoway Parish).
 
1752.  Jno Hamton - 40 [acres?] (Amelia County list of Capt Thomas Tabb’s “Pole”). 
 
1752.  On 27 Aug. 1752, Henry Nelson of Nottoway Parish, Amelia County, sold Robert Singleton of Nottoway Parish, Amelia County, an estimated 200 acres of land on head branches of the north fork of Sandy Creek adjoining the lines and/or corners of Dawson, John Hampton [also Hamton], and James Singleton for £50 current money.  Henry Nelson [his mark] signed the deed.  No witnesses were mentioned.  Robert Singleton obtained possession on 27 Aug. 1752 and the deed was ordered recorded after Mary, wife of Henry Nelson, relinquished her dower rights. (Amelia County Deed Book 4, pp. 430-431.) 
   
1753.  Jno Hampton & Micajah Hampton - 2 tithables (Amelia County tithable list of Jno Nash, Nottoway Parish). 

1753.  On 24 May 1753, William Ray of Nottoway Parish, Amelia County, sold John Hampton of Nottoway Parish 200 acres more or less in Amelia County adjoining the lines of Meadows and William Ray, Saylors Creek road, John Hampton's line, Hampton's Spring Branch, and the lines of Henry Isabell, Holland, Osborne, and Brumfield, with all houses, etc., for £25 current money of Virginia.  The land was part of a tract granted to Jacob Seay by patent dated 20 Aug. 1747 and then to William Ray by patent dated 16 Nov. 1752. William Ray and Elizabeth Ray [her mark] signed the deed.  Witnesses were Gideon Johnson, Ashley Johnson, and Dasey Southall.  John Hampton obtained possession on 24 May 1753 and the deed was ordered recorded that same day after Elizabeth, wife of William Ray, relinquished her dower rights. (Amelia County Deed Book 5, pp. 7-10.) 
  
1754.  John Hampton & John Hampton Jr - 2 tithables (Amelia County tithable list of Henry Ward, Nottoway Parish). 

1754.  On 28 March 1754, John Hampton of Amelia County sold Robert Singleton of Amelia County 50 acres more or less in Amelia County adjoining line of Quarles, Sandy Creek, James Singleton's spring branch, and Robert Singleton for 7 pounds, 5 shillings current money.  John Hampton signed the deed.  No witnesses were mentioned.  Robert Singleton obtained possession on 28 March 1754 and the deed was ordered recorded the same day (Amelia County Deed Book 5, pp. 123-125.) 
  
1755.  John Hampton - 1 tithable (Amelia County tithable list of Henry Ward, Nottoway Parish). 

1755.  John Hampton - 85 [acres?] (Amelia County list of Colo Richd Bookers “Pole”). 

March 1756.  John Hamton (father or son) was listed among the Amelia County soldiers participating in the French and Indian War. 

24 March 1756.  John Hampton Senr. of Nottoway Parish, Amelia County, gave John Hampton Junr. of Nottoway Parish, Amelia County, 150 acres more or less in Nottoway Parish adjoining the lines of John Ray, William Ray, the road, head of a branch entering Sandy Creek, the lines of John Hampton Sr., John Good, and Charles Johnson, and Frankens Creek for "the love he bears his well beloved Son".  John Hampton [his mark] signed the deed.  No witnesses were mentioned.  John Hampton Jr. obtained possession on 25 March 1756 and the deed was ordered recorded the same day (Amelia County Deed Book 5, pp. 421-422). 
 
25 March 1756.  A deed with endorsements etc. from John Hampton to John Hampton junr. was acknowledged by John Hampton and ordered recorded (Court for 25 March 1756, Amelia County Order Book No. 4, p. 42). 
 
1757.  John Hampton against Robert Singleton, Petition, was by agreement of both parties dismissed with the defendant ordered to pay the costs (Amelia County Order Book No. 5, p. 4). 
 
1757.  Major Brumfield vs. John Hampton, Trespass, assault & battery, was discontinued per agreement by the parties involved (Court for 24 Nov. 1757, Amelia County Order Book No. 5, p. 40). 
  
1757.  On 20 Dec. 1757, James Singleton of Amelia County sold Robert Singleton of same 125 acres more or less in Amelia County at the head of a creek and adjoining the lines of William Compton, Ephraim Dickins, John Hamton, Joseph Hawkins, James Singleton, and the road, with houses, etc., for £36 current money of Virginia.  James Singleton [his mark] signed the deed.  Witnesses were William Compton, Joseph Hawkins, and Benjamin Cook.  Robert Singleton obtained possession on 20 Dec. 1758 and the deed was ordered recorded on 27 July 1758 (Amelia County Deed Book 6, pp. 361-363.) 
    
1760.  On 27 March 1760, John Hampton Junr., "now of the County of King William", sold Stephen Johnson of Amelia County an estimated 150 acres in Nottoway Parish being land given to John Jr. by his father, John Sr., by a deed dated 25 March 1756 and adjoining William and John Ray's corners, line of William Ray, the road, a branch that goes to Sandy Creek, the lines of John Hamton Senr., John Good, and Charles Johnson, and head of Franklins Creek, with houses, etc., for £30 current money of Virginia.  The deed was signed by John Hampton [his mark]Witnesses were James Henderson and Wm. Johnson.  The deed was ordered recorded on 27 March 1760 (Amelia County Deed Book 7, pp. 163-165.) 

1760.  On 24 April 1760, John Hampton [also Hamton] and Mary, his wife, of Nottoway Parish in Amelia County sold William Jones of Nottoway Parish an estimated 100 acres in Amelia County on Sandy Creek adjoining lines of John Hampton [and Mary], Singleton, Ephraim Dickens, with houses, etc., for £25 current money of Virginia.  This was a tract of land conveyed to John Hampton by deed by John Smith.  John Hampton [his mark] signed the deed.  William Johnson, James Ray, and Abijah Elmore were the witnesses.  The deed was acknowledged on 24 April 1760 and ordered recorded. (Amelia County Deed Book 7, pp. 187-189.) 

1761.  On 7 Oct. 1761, William Wray [also Ray] and wife Elizabeth of Amelia County sold to Edmund Booker of Amelia County 403 acres in Amelia County on lower side of Little Saylors Creek, adjoining lands of Thomas Osborne, Edward Selbe, Stephen Johnson, John Hampton, Ephraim Dickens, Stephen Howell, Edmund Booker, John Ellington, and Charles Johnson, with houses, etc., for £150 current money.  William Wray and Elizabeth Wray [her mark] signed the deed.  John Bentley, John Hampton, James Ray, and John Hampton Junr. were witnesses.  Possession was obtained on 7 Oct. 1761 and the deed was acknowledged and ordered recorded on 22 Oct. 1761. (Amelia County Deed Book 7, pp. 520-522.)

1762.  John Hamptons Tith, Collings Hampton & Nan - 2 tithes (Amelia County tithable list of Henry Ward, Nottoway). 

1763.  John Hampton's List of Tithes & Land, Collins Hampton - 1 tithe & 100 acres (Amelia County tithable list of Henry Ward, Nottoway). 

1763.  John Hampton assignee of Wm. Jones Plt vs. James Hurt, Deft, In Debt, was won by the Plaintiff because the Defendant did not appear.  The Plaintiff was to recover £14 Current Money of Virginia from the Defendant and John Bentley, the Defendant's security.  The Defendant could discharge the Judgment by paying £7 with 5 percent interest beginning 25 Dec. 1762 (Court for 26 May 1763, Amelia County Court Order Book No. 7, p. 74). 
 
1763.  On 25 Aug. 1763, Stephen Johnson, Planter of Amelia County, sold James Seay, Planter of Amelia County, 150 acres at upper end of heads of Legon's mill creek at Hampton's Race Paths, adjoining the road, Thomas Sowel, John Ray, Charles Johnson, Edmund Booker, and John Hampton for £40.  Possession was obtained on 25 Aug. 1763, and the deed was acknowledged and ordered recorded the same day after Mary, wife of Stephen Johnson, relinquished her dower rights. (See Amelia County Deed Book 8, pp. 191, 192.) 

1764.  On 16 July 1764, William Jones of Amelia County sold Thomas Lester of Amelia County 50 acres adjoining the line of John Johnson, south fork of Sandy Creek, Sandy Creek, north fork of Sandy Creek, and line of Robert Singleton for £25. Witnesses were John Hamton, Benjamin Hawkins, and James League.  The deed was proved by only two witnesses in July Court, 1764 and was never formally recorded. (See Amelia County, Packet #1, "Deeds not proven, A to H.") 
  
1765.  At September Court 1765, Halifax County, Moses Bond, Plt., vs. John Hampton, Deft. On a Petition.  Defendant agreed that Plaintiff’s demand was just, judgment for the Plaintiff of 1 pound, 6 shillings, and his costs, and 7 shillings and 6 pence as the lawyers fee. (see Plea Book 5, Part 1, pp. 195-196). 

1765.  At September Court 1765, Halifax County, John Thomason, assignee of William Thomason, Plt, vs. John Hampton, Deft, In Debt.  Defendant cannot deny he owes the Plaintiff £7.  Judgment for the Plaintiff, who is to receive his debt (£7) plus costs. 

1765.  On 20 Oct. 1765, John Hampton and wife Mary of Amelia County sold Henry Yarbrough of Amelia County 100 acres more or less in Amelia County on south side of Sandy Creek adjoining lands of James Sea, Wm. Farley, John Johnson, John Foster, Jr., John Booker, and Thomas Lowell, being all the remaining land in Amelia County belonging to John Hampton, for £50 current money of Virginia.  The deed was signed by John Hampton [his mark].  No witnesses were mentioned.  Possession was obtained on 25 Oct. 1765 and the deed was acknowledged and ordered recorded on 24 Oct. 1765 (Amelia County Deed Book 8, pp. 692-693.).  

1765.  John Hampton and his wife, Mary, entered into an Indenture of Feofment with Henry Yarboro, which was acknowledged by John Hampton and ordered recorded. (Amelia County, Virginia, Court for 21 Oct. 1765).
  
1765.  On 24 Oct. 1765, Edmund Booker and wife, Edith Marot, of Raleigh Parish, Amelia County, sold William Farley, Jr., of Nottoway Parish 200 acres in Amelia County on branches of Little Sailors Creek adjoining Hampton, a branch, a spring branch, Lick Branch, and the "old line."  Possession was obtained on 24 Oct. 1765 and the deed was ordered recorded that same day after Edith Marot relinquished her dower rights. (See Amelia County Deed Book 8, pp. 704, 706.).
  
1767.  At February Court 1767, Halifax County, John Hampton Sr., Plt., vs. John Dean, Deft, On an Attachment against the Defendant’s estate.  "For reasons appearing," suit dismissed. (see Halifax County, Virginia, Plea Book 5, Part 2, p. 409). 

1767.  At February Court 1767, Halifax County, Joseph Collins was appointed surveyor of the road from Bates’s Spring to Hickeys Road.  The following were assigned to assist him in keeping the road clear and in repair:  Peter Trible, John Rowden, Benjamin Burch, Joseph Street, John Mullins, John Francis, John Hampton, Daniel Hancock, Joseph Echols, Benjamin Hancock, Micajah Francis, Joseph Hancock, William Mullins, John Prewit, Richard Ashlock, John Silcock, Thomas Tinsley, and Travis Guthrey (see Halifax County, Virginia, Plea Book 6, pp. 272-273).
 
1767.  At July Court 1767, Halifax County, John Dyer (Sr.), assignee of John Dyer, Jr., Plt. vs. John Hampton, In Debt.  "For reasons appearing," suit dismissed (see Halifax County, Virginia, Plea Book 5, Part 2, p. 462). 

1767.  On 10 Sept. 1767, George Anderson of Halifax County sold to John Hampton Sr. of Halifax County about 100 acres on the branches of Childrey Creek bounded by lines of Isaac Martin, Peter Tribble, plus houses, gardens, etc., for 12 pounds. Joseph Collins, Collins Hampton, and Peter Trible witnessed the deed.  The deed was recorded on 17 Sept. 1767 (see Halifax County Deed Book 7, p. 14).
 
1767.  At September Court 1767, Halifax County, a deed from George Anderson to John Hampton Sr. was acknowledged and order recorded (see Halifax County, Virginia, Plea Book 6, p. 3).

1769.  “At a Vestry held for Antrim Parish the 17th day of January 1769”, “To the Church Wardens to be applied for the use of John Hampton and Thomas Hodges each 800…[total =]1600” (p. 101). 

1769.  “At a Vestry held for Antrim Parish December the 29th 1769”, “To John Hampton for his & wifes Maintenance 1200” (p. 104).
 
1770.  On 19 April 1770, Charles Bostick of Halifax County sold John Hampton of Halifax County about 100 acres on south side of Childry Creek bounded by Bostick, Paddy, and Daniel Hancock for 20 pounds.  The deed was recorded on 19 April 1770 (see Halifax County Deed Book 7, p. 471) [Halifax County, Virginia Deeds, 1767-1772, T.L.C. Genealogy, Miami Beach, FL, 1989, pp. 35-36]
1770.  On 11 Aug. 1770, Daniel Hancock of Halifax County sold Nathan Martin of Halifax County about 100 acres on Childrey Creek bounded by John Hampton and Andrew Paddy for £20.  James Martin, George Addams, Isaac Martin Jr. witnessed the deed.  The deed was recorded on 16 Aug. 1770 (see Halifax County Deed Book 8, p. 62). 

1771.  April Court 1771, John Hampton, Plaintiff, against Micajah Hampton, Defendant.  William Bostwick guaranteed payment of “Costs and Condemnation” for the defendant or to go to jail. (Halifax County, Virginia, Plea Book 7, Part 1, p. 100.) 
 
1771.  September Court 1771, Micajah Hampton, Plaintiff, against John Hampton, Defendant.  This suit was dismissed by the court. (Halifax County, Virginia, Plea Book 7, Part 1, p. 256.)
 
1772.  On 18 March 1772, Nathan Martin and Elizabeth, his wife, of Antrim Parish, Halifax County, sold John Malicoat of Antrim Parish, Halifax County about 100 acres on south side of Childress Creek bounded by John Hamton (Hampton), and Francis Scates for 5 pounds 5 shillings plus "divers good causes."  Benjamin Burch, John Dyer Jr., John Dyer Sr. witnessed the deed.  The deed was recorded on 16 July 1772 (see Halifax County Deed Book 8, p. 411). 
 
1772.  On 19 Nov. 1772, John Dean of Carolina Province sold William Wilson Holmes of Halifax County about 20 acres lying on south side of the head of Spider Creek for £5.  Joseph Collins, William Bays, and John Hampton witnessed the deed.  The deed was recorded on 19 Nov. 1772 (see Halifax County Deed Book 8, p. 491). 
 
1774.  On 23 Feb. 1774, Nathan Martin of Halifax County sold William Martin of Halifax County about 154 acres on branches of Childreys Creek adjoining the lines of John Hampton and James Martin.  Joshua Stone, James Marting, and John Martin witnessed the deed.  The deed was recorded on 21 April 1774 (see Halifax County Deed Book 9, p. 44). 
 
1778.  On 19 Feb. 1778, Benjamin Burch of Halifax County sold Major Brumfield of Amelia County two tracts containing about 200 acres and 90 acres, respectively, adjoining each other on Childres (Childry) Creek, bounded by William Trible, William Martin, John Hampton, William Bays old line, Joseph Hancock, John Crowder.  The witnesses were T. Tunstall, Thos. Hope, and Nipper Adams.  The deed was recorded on 19 Feb. 1778 Jane, wife of Benjamin, relinquished her dower rights (see Halifax County Deed Book 10, p. 387). 

16 Feb. 1780.  John Hampton of Halifax County sold William Walding of Halifax County 100 acres lying on Childress Creek and bounded by the lines of Peter Trible, James Martin, William Martin, William Stone, Major Brumfield, and Thomas Ousley for £14.  James Martin, Josiah Collins, and Moses Walding were witnesses.  The deed was recorded on 17 Feb. 1780 (see Halifax County Deed Book 11, p. 418)
 
After 16 Feb. 1780.  Died.
81
Mary ???
Before 16 Feb. 1780.  Died (when John Hampton sold 100 acres on Childress Creek, Mary was not mentioned as relinquishing her dower rights, an indication that she probably had died prior to the transaction).
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Thomas DODSON (II)
After 1700.  Born in Richmond County, Virginia.

Before 1725.  Married Elizabeth Rose. 

6 Dec. 1733.  Thomas Dodson Sr. and wife Mary, Thomas Dodson Jr. and wife Elizabeth, all of North Farnham Parish, Richmond County, Virginia, 130 acres, sold 100 acres formerly belonging to Abraham Marshall, to Jonathan Lyell for a male slave already delivered to Thomas Dodson Jr. and a female slave to be delivered as soon as one can be purchased.  Witnesses were Robt. Reynolds, George Gibson, Wm. Creel.  Mary and Elizabeth Dodson relinquished dower rights.  Recorded 1 Apr. 1734. 

About 1733.  Sold land in Richmond County, Virginia, and moved to that portion of Prince William County that later became Fauquier County, Virginia.  He lived on the Broad Run of Occoquan Creek. 

23 Aug. 1759.  Thomas Dodson in Fauquier County, Virginia, gave his son Joseph 150 acres. The deed was recorded on 23 Aug. 1759. 

8 May 1761.  Thomas Dodson Sr. of Hamilton Parish in Fauquier County, Virginia, gave his son George via a deed of gift 100 acres.  Witnesses were Thomas Marshall, Thos. Dodson, Wm. Dodson.  The deed was recorded on 28 May 1761. 

8 May 1761.  Thomas Dodson Sr. of Fauquier County, Virginia, gave his son Thomas Jr. via a deed of gift 150 acres.  Witnesses were Thomas Marshall, Geo’e Dodson, William Dodson.  The deed was recorded on 28 May 1761. 

3 Dec. 1762.  Thomas and Elizabeth Dodson were founding members of the Broad Run Baptist Church in Fauquier County, Virginia.  This church was founded on 3 Dec. 1762.  Thomas and Elizabeth Dodson were "dismiss'd to Halifax". 

25-26 May 1766.  Thomas Sr. and Elizabeth Dodson, Thomas Dodson Jr. and wife Mary sold 400 acres in Fauquier County via lease and release to William Hunton
 and moved to Halifax County Virginia. 
  The deed was recorded on 26 May 1766. 

Later in 1766.  Thomas Dodson bought 400 acres from Joseph Terry on Birch Creek in Halifax County.  Part of this land was in Pittsylvania County, when it was created. 

After 1766.  Married Mrs. Ellenor Sloan. 

3 Aug. 1771.  For a consideration of four pounds and fifteen shillings, Thomas Dodson, Jr., and Thomas Richards acquired a Virginia Land Office land grant of 920 acres in Halifax County, Virginia, on 3 Aug. 1771.
 
27 May 1772.  Thomas Dodson Sr. to Jesse Dodson, son of sd. Thomas, for love and affection, 100 acres purchased from Joseph Terry and in the possession of Jesse Dodson, on Birch Creek adj. Terry and the mill yard.  The witnesses were John Creel, Lazarus Dodson, and Charles Chilton.  This was recorded on 28 May 1772.  (See Pittsylvania County, Virginia, Deed Book 2, p. 492) 

22 June 1773.  Thomas Dodson sold 200 acres in Pittsylvania County, Virginia, to John Creel for £50.   Witnesses were Jeffrey Johnson, Davd. Dodson, and Caleb Johnson.  This was recorded on 23 Sep. 1773.  (See Pittsylvania County, Virginia, Deed Book 3, p. 361.)

22 June 1773.  Thomas Dodson entered into an agreement with John Creel for the maintenance of Thomas and his wife in their old age.   Witnesses were Jeffrey Johnson, Davd. Dodson, and Caleb Johnson.  This was recorded on 23 Sep. 1773.  (See Pittsylvania County, Virginia, Deed Book 3, p. 362)

1777.  Thomas Dodson signed the Oath of Allegiance in Pittsylvania County, Virginia. 

22 Aug. 1779.  Signed his will.  The will mentioned the following: 

· Grandson Thomas son of Joseph Dodson, dec’d (to receive one shilling sterling)
· Son Thomas (to receive whip saw)
· Son George (to receive slave Livinia)
· Son William (after death of Thomas’s wife to receive to receive home plantation and land)
· Daughter Sarah Nevil (to receive one shilling)
· Daughter Elizabeth Bennett (to receive one shilling)
· Daughter Else Dodson (to receive one shilling)
· Daughter Rody Creel (to receive one shilling)
· Wife Ellinor (life tenure at family home and services of slave Violet, who goes to son Jesse upon his wife’s death) 
· The separate and regular Baptists (the use of the meeting house near John Creel’s mill and 3 acres of land)
The executors were his wife and son George.  The witnesses were Daniel Gardner, Heath Gardner, and Silvaney Gardner.
1782.  Thomas Dodson Sr. was on a Pittsylvania County, Virginia, personal tax list with 1 white male over 21, 2 slaves, 2 horses, and 10 cattle. 

1783.  Thomas Dodson was on a Pittsylvania County, Virginia, personal tax list with 1 white male over 21, 3 slaves, 2 horses, and 14 cattle. 

1783.  Died. 

21 Oct. 1783.  His will was recorded. 

85
Elizabeth ROSE
Circa 1706.  Born.

After 1763.  Died in Pittsylvania County, Virginia.  Her family moved to Pittsylvania County sometime between 1763 and 1767. 
  Mrs. Sherman Williams says that she died after 1766.
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Jeffrey JOHNSON (IV)
Things are quite confusing with regard to Jeffrey (IV) because his father, one of his sons, and at least one of his cousins were all named Jeffrey.  It appears that he signed by making his mark, while the other Jeffreys (most notably his first cousin, the son of his father’s brother John) signed their names. 
  With the notable exception of his father’s will, Jeffrey (IV) first appears in the written records (of Fauquier County, Virginia) in 1759, and last appears in the written records (of Wilkes County, North Carolina) in 1789.  He was at least 21 years old in 1759, so he was born in 1738 or earlier.
1738 or before.  Born.
1759.  Jeffry and Moses Johnson, executors of the estate of Jeffrey Johnson, deceased, were sued by John Johnson (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Minute Book 1, p. 8). 
  
1759.  Jeffrey and Moses Johnson were sued by Thomas and Margaret Colson (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Minute Book 1, p. 21). 

13 Jan. 1759. Thos. Colson and his wife Margaret of Frederick Parish, Frederick County, Virginia, relinquished all personal and real property from the estate of Jeffrey Johnson, with the exception of two feather beds and furniture, one large trunk, all of the pewter of the estate, one "Lin'n" wheel, and one grey horse, to Jeffrey Johnson and Moses Johnson of the Parish of Hamilton.  Margaret Coleson was the widow of Jeffrey Johnson and had the use of the personal and real property granted her for life by the provisions of his will.  In exchange, Jeffrey and Moses agreed to pay Thos. and Margaret Colson 100 gallons of cider and 10 gallons of brandy, if the orchards are fruitful, for the remainder of Margaret's life.  This agreement and bond was signed by Thomas Colson, Margaret (X) Colson, Jeffrey (X) Johnson, and Moses Johnson, and was witnessed by Laz's. Taylor and Simon Morgan.  It was recorded on 23 Aug. 1759 (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 1, pp. 24-26). 
 
24 Aug. 1759.  Jafery Johnson was a witness to the lease and release of 120 acres by John Bell and Frankey, his wife, of Hamilton Parish, to Thomas Porter for 5 shillings.  The lease and release was recorded on 23 Aug. 1759 [sic] (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 1, pp. 20-23). 
  
1759 and 1763.  Thomas and Sarah Battony sue the executors of Jeffry Johnson (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Minute Book 1, p. 8 abd Minute Book 2, p. 12). 

21-22 May 1760.  Thomas Colson of Frederick County entered into a lease and release agreement with Jeffry Johnson of Hamilton Parish, Prince William County, for 264 acres in Prince William County in exchange for £40.  The land was located on branches of the Rappahannock River, and neighbors included Walter Anderson and John Hudnal.  The agreement was signed by Thomas Colson, was witnessed by Benj'a (X) Johnson, Moses Johnson, and Rich'd. Mynatt, and was recorded on 22 May 1760 (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 1, pp. 70-75). 
  
27/28 Aug. 1760.  Jeffry Johnson entered into a lease and release agreement with William Johnson for 200 acres on branches of Carter's Run in exchange for £22.  The agreement was signed by Jeffry ("I") Johnson, witnessed by George Wheatley, Wm. Kiernes, and Edmond Basye, and recorded 28 Aug. 1760 (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 1, pp. 103-107). 
  
1762.  Jeffrey Johnston was the bondsman for the Fauquier County, Virginia, marriage bond of William Dodson to Winnifred Johnson. 

1763.  Jeffrey Johnson sued Stephen Bailey (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Minute Book 2, p. 62). 
  
1765.  The churchwardens bound Letty Redman to Jeffrey Johnson (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Minute Book 3, p. 110). 

13 March 1765.  Jefery Johnson Jr. mortgaged a slave to Jefry Johnson Sr. for £40 to be repaid by 10 Dec. 1765.  The mortgage was signed by Jefery Johnson (-/-/-) witnessed by Thos. Porter and William Miller, and recorded and proved on 22 July 1765 (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 2, pp. 319-320). 
  
1766.  Jeffrey Johnson sold Frances Moore a female slave (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 2, p. 565). 

3 May 1766.  Jeffery Johnson sold Frances Moore a slave for 50 pounds.  The sale was signed by Jeffery (his mark) Johnson, witnessed by William Blackwell Jr., John Rousaw, and Harmon Hitt, and was recorded and proved on 28 Oct. 1766 (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 2, pp. 565-566). 
  
9 June 1767.  Jeffery Johnson and his wife, Rachel, entered into a lease and release agreement with Barbary Berkley.  The agreement was recorded on 9 June 1767. (Loudoun County, Virginia) 

1768.  John Moffett was sued by Jeffrey Johnson (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Minute Book 4, p. 21). 

25-27 Feb. 1768. Jeffry Johnson Jr. and Rachael, his wife, of Cameron Parish, Loudoun County, entered into a lease and release agreement for 130 acres with Peter Cornwall for £100.  The land was between Pignut Ridge and the Rappahannock Mtns., and was adjacent to the land of Moses Johnson and Col. Fairfax.  The agreement was signed by Jeffry (-/-/-/) Johnson and Rachel Johnson, witnessed by Simon Triplett, Jas. Lane, and William Read, and recorded and acknowledged by Jeffry Johnson on 29 June 1768 (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 3, pp. 188-194). 
  
8 Dec. 1775.  Jeffry Johnson of Surry County, North Carolina, granted his son, George Johnson, power of attorney to sell all of his land in Fauquier County.  The power of attorney was signed by Jeffrey (///) Johnson, witnessed by John and Samuel Johnson, and recorded and proved on 22 Jan. 1776 (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 6, p. 232). 
  
26 Feb. 1776.  Jeffry Johnson of Surry County, North Carolina, and Moses Johnson of Fauquier County, Virginia, sold 513 acres that came to them through the will of their father, dated 1750, to John Moffett for £100.  The land was on the Piney Branch, and adjoining or near the property of Wm. Johnson, Rev. Scott, O'banon and Ford, and William Fairfax, Esq.  The deed was signed by George Johnson, attorney for Jeffry Johnson, and Moses Johnson, and was recorded and acknowledged by the sellers on 26 Feb. 1776 (see  Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 6, pp. 247-249). 
  
1787.  Jeffery Johnson, living in Wilkes County, North Carolina, had no white males 21 to 60 in his household, three white males below 21 or above 60 in his household, one white female in his household, two slaves 12 to 50, and four slaves below 12 or above 50.

Jan. 1789.  The will of Jeffrey Johnson, Wilkes County, County, North Carolina, identified the following as his heirs:
· Wife Rachel
· Children:
· Jeffrey Johnson
· Lewis Johnson
· George Johnson
· Samuel Johnson
· Barbary Johnson
· John Johnson
· Benjamin Johnson
· Grandchildren 
· James Dodson
· Rachel Dodson
· Weonnifred Dodson
The executor was his son William Johnson.  

1789.  Died in Wilkes County, North Carolina.

87
Rachel WALKER
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James RUDD
About 1755.  Son Hezekiah was born in Chesterfield County, Virginia.
  Hezekiah married Lucy Hawkins, daughter of David and Mary Hawkins on or soon after 23 Oct. 1779, probably in Amelia County, Virginia, the home of her parents.

Before 1765.  Son Frederick was born. 

Before 1765.  Son Robert was born. 

Before 1767.  Son Aldridge was born.
  Aldridge married Ann Hawkins, daughter of David and Mary Hawkins on or soon after 1 Feb. 1779, probably in Amelia County, Virginia, the home of her parents. 

Before 1775.  Daughter Lumanna was born. 

Before 1775.  Daughter Caron was born. 

Before 1790.  Daughter Keziah was born. 

Before 1790.  Daughter Tabitha was born. 

Before 1790.  Daughter Luraney was born. 

1786.  James Rudd, resident in Chesterfield County, Virginia, had one taxable white male above 21 years old, two slaves above 16 years old, two slaves between 12 and 16, two horses, and ten cattle.

29 March 1788.  James Rudd, resident in Chesterfield County, Virginia, had one taxable white male above 21 years old, two slaves above 16 years old, no slaves between 12 and 16, and three horses.
  His likely neighbors in 1788 were the following, who were all visited by the taxman on the same day that James was (names presented in alphabetical order, not visitation order):

	Edward Anderson
	Collimgs Gooding
	William Robertson

	Frank Armstrong
	Francis Gordan
	John Rowlett

	Edward Bass Jr.
	James Gordan
	Frederick Rudd

	Bevely Blankinship
	John Gordan
	Hezekiah Rudd

	Francis Blankinship
	Aron Haskins
	Robert Rudd

	Daniel Bowman Jr.
	Edward Loafman
	James Snelling

	Edward Branch estate
	Wm. Loafman
	Bevly Standly

	Henry Branch
	Benejah Lockett
	William Stephens

	Thos. Branch
	James Moody
	Phill. Three?

	John Coats
	David Morrisett
	Thomas Watkins

	Hamblin Cole
	Alexander Mosley
	Joseph Wilkerson

	Henry Cox
	Richard Moseley
	Samuell Wilkerson

	Thomas Fargesson
	John Owen
	William Wilkerson Jr.

	Fountain Force
	George Patrom
	Jacob William

	John B. Force
	Francis Perdew
	Wm. William

	John B. Force estate
	Aron Purdie
	Wm. Williamson

	John Good Jr.
	James Robertson
	Peter Worsham


16 Dec. 1790.  In the will of James Rudd, the following heirs were identified:
· Wife
· Son Fedrick [sic]
· Son Robert
· Son Aldridge
· Son Hezekiah
· Daughter Lumannah Axley
· Daughter Keziah Rudd
· Daughter Caron Cliborne
· Daughter Tabitha Rudd
· Daughter Luraney Rudd
· Grandson Fedrick Rudd
· Surviving sons of Robert Rudd
The will was dated 16 Dec. 1790.  The executors were to be his wife and sons Aldridge and Hezekiah.  The witnesses were Haley Talbott, Archer Rudd, and Robert Wilkerson. 
 
After 16 Dec. 1790.  Died, probably in Chesterfield County, Virginia.

105
Mary ???
Mary’s surname is traditionally identified as Pleasants.  There is no solid evidence for the surname.  Furthermore, some sources identify the wife of James Rudd as Mary Pleasant, others as Mary Pleasants.  A review of Pleasants and Allied Families by Norma and George Miller sheds some light on this confusion.  A Pleasants family was living in the Henrico/Chesterfield area of Virginia at the time that James Rudd and Mary probably got married.
  The Pleasant family lived elsewhere in Virginia at the time.  A Pleasant family lived in Caswell County in North Carolina at the time that Aldridge and Hezekiah, sons of James and Mary, settled there.
  The Pleasants family lived elsewhere in North Carolina.  It would have been natural to assume that Mary was related to the Caswell County Pleasant family, but it is more likely that she was a descendant of the Henrico/Chesterfield County Pleasants family.   Unfortunately, Pleasants and Allied Families mentions no Mary Pleasants (or Mary Pleasant, for that matter) who could have been the wife of James Rudd.  The same is true of The Edward Pleasants Valentine Papers, which devotes over 350 pages to the Pleasants family of Henrico County and their descendants.
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David HAWKINS
Before 1749.  The parents of David Hawkins are currently unknown.  One possibility is Michael and Agnes Hawkins of Bristol Parish, Prince George County, Virginia.  They had a son named David who was born on 3 June 1727.
  That David would be the correct age to be the David Hawkins who is an ancestor of Eunice Verna McMahan.  Furthermore, Prince George County was one of the parent counties of Amelia County, Virginia, where Eunice’s ancestor David Hawkins spent his adult life.
In addition to their son David, Michael and Agnes Hawkins of Bristol Parish, Prince George County, are known to have had the following children:  (1) Joshua, born 25 July 1725 and (2) Elizabeth, born June 1731 and baptized 12 Aug. 1731. 

Agnes Hawkins nee Eaton reportedly was born in 1699 and also reportedly was the daughter of Dr. William Eaton and Sarah Pinkethman, the daughter of Timothy Pinkethman.

1749.  Jno Anderson’s list.  Davd. Hawkins, Sith, Ben, Jemmy - 4 tithables and 24 horses(?) (Amelia County Tithables, Edwd Booker, Below Flatt & Nibbs Creek). 

1750.  Doct. Anderson’s list.  Davd. Hawkins, Silk, Ben - 3 tithables and 18 horses(?) (Amelia County Tithables, Saml. Terry, Below Flatt & Nibbs Creeks).

1751.  Doctr. John Anderson’s list.  David Hawkins, Sys, Ben - 3 tithables (Amelia County Tithables, Below Flatt & Nibbs Creeks).

1751.  Doct’r. Andersons list.  David Hawkins, Ben, Sith - 3 tithables (Amelia County Tithables, Saml. Tarry, btw Flatt & Deep).

1752.  Doct. Anderson’s list.  Davd. Hawkins, Sith, Ben - 3 tithables (Amelia County Tithables, Below Flatt & Nibbs Creeks).

1752.  David Hakins - 3 tithes (Amelia County Tithables, Seth Perkinson).

1753.  Doct. Anderson’s list.  Dav. Hawkins, Ben, Robin, Syth - 4 tithables (Amelia County Tithables, Below Flatt & Nibbs Creeks). 

1756.  Tanner Branch list.  David Hawkins, Robin, Wills, Tom, Agge - 6 tithes (Amelia County Tithables, David Greenhill, Raleigh below Deep). 

1757.  At Court held on 24 March 1757:  An Indenture of Feofment between Thomas Green of the one part and David Hawkins of the other part and a Memorandum thereon endorsed were acknowledged by the said Thomas Green and are ordered to be Recorded and Martha the Wife of the said Thomas Personally appeared in court and having first privily examined as the Law directs Voluntarily relinquished her Right of Dower in the Lands and Premises conveyed by the said Indenture. 
 
31 Jan. 1757.  David Hawkings purchased from Thomas Green of Amelia County 200 acres more or less in Amelia County for £45 current money of Virginia.  The land was part of a tract patented by Thomas Green.  The land was adjacent to that of Thomas Green, Reams, and to the Long Branch.  The deed was signed by Thos. Green and Martha Green.   Witnesses were Marston Green, Robt. Field, and John Wills.  Possession was taken by David Hawkins.  The deed was ordered recorded on 24 March 1757, after Martha, wife of Thomas Green, relinquished her dower rights. 

1761.  David Hawkins (Amelia County Tithables, David Greenhill). 
 
1762.  David Hawkins and Jack (Amelia County Tithables, William Crawley, Rawleigh bel. Deep). 

1763.  David Hawkins list.  Jack - 2 tithables and 200 acres (Amelia County Tithables, Capt. David Greenhill, Raleigh Parish). 

1764.  At Court held on 25 October 1764:  On the motion of Amy Vaughan who took the Oath and entered into and Acknowledged Bond with David Hawkins her Security as the Law directs Certificate is granted her for Obtaining letters of Administration on the estate of Abraham Vaughan her Husband in due form. 
 
1765.  David Hawkins, Jack - 2 tithables and 200 acres (Amelia County Tithables, William Crawley, Raleigh Parish). 

1767.  David Hawkins, Jack, Phillis - 3 tithables and 200 acres (Amelia County Tithables, David Greenhill, Raleigh Parish). 

1769.  David Hawkins, Peter Burrow, Jack, Phillis – 4 tithables and 200 acres (Amelia County Tithables, V. Brooking, Lower District, Raleigh Parish). 

1770.  [obscured] Hawkins, Jack, Phillis – 3 tithables and 200 acres (Amelia County Tithables, Vivion Brooking, Lower District Raleigh Parish). 

1776.  David Hawkins was one of the signers of a Petition of Officers and Soldiers of Amelia County concerning the exempt status of "Overseers" that was presented to "the Convention" on 4 June 1776.
 
1778.  David Hawkins, Jack, Phillis, Bess – 3 tithes (Amelia County Tithables, Lau. Wills, Raleigh Parish). 

1779.  David Hakins, Jack, Phillis, Bess – 4 tithes (Amelia County Tithables, Laurence Wills, Raleigh Parish). 

1 Feb. 1779.  Aldridge Rudd and Ann Hawkins married.  Surety:  David Hawkins.  Aldridge Rudd is from Chesterfield County. 
  
23 Oct. 1779.  Hezekiah Rudd and Lucy Hawkins married.  Surety:  David Hawkins. 
  
1782.  David Hawkins, Jack, Bess – 3 tithes (Amelia County Tithables, Laurence Wills list).
 
1782.  David Hawkins, Jack, Bess, Dick, Bob – 1 free white male over 21, 4 slaves, 5 horses, etc., 15 cattle (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).

1782.  On 5 Jan. 1782, David (X) Hawkins of Amelia County sold his daughter, Pattey Tanner, three slaves -- Dinah and her children, Grief and Phillis -- for £5.  The transaction was witnessed by Thomas T. Wills and Thomas Tucker, proved by Thomas Tabb Wills and Thomas (X) Tucker on 23 May 1782, and recorded on 23 May 1782.  (See Amelia County Deed Book 16, p. 77.)

1782.  At Court held on 23 May 1782:  An Indenture made between David Hawkins and Patty Tanner proved by Thomas Tabb Wells and Thomas Tucker, witnesses, and ordered recorded.
  
1782.  At Court held on 22 Aug. 1782:  An Indenture made between David Hawkins and William Hawkins was proved by the oaths of two witnesses and ordered certified.
  
1783.  David Hawkins had property impressed by the American Army during the Revolution. 

1784.  David Hawkins, tithes over 21=3, slaves under 16=1, horses, etc.=5, cattle=15 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1785.  David Hawkins, tithes over 21=1, slaves over 16=2, slaves under 16=1, horses, etc.=3, cattle=8 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1785.  On 25 Aug. 1785, Rice Newman of Amelia County sold to Robert Jones of Amelia County 803 acres in Amelia County adjacent to Payton Talley, David Hawkins, Thomas Green, Abraham Green, Fendall Sutherland, and Henry Anderson for £1500.  The deed was acknowledged and recorded on 25 Aug. 1785.  Elizabeth, wife of Rice, relinquished her dower rights the same day. (see Amelia County Deed Book 17, p. 236)
1786.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=2, slaves under 16=1, horses, etc.=2, cattle=12 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1787.  David Hawkins, 1 white male over 21, 2 slaves over 16, 1 slave under 16, 2 horses, etc., 10 cattle (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
5 May 1787.  The likely neighbors of David Hawkins were (all were visited by the taxman the same day that David was):

	Mary Bowling
	John Green
	Francis Stern

	Martin Chandler
	William Green
	Abner Talley

	Burwell Coleman
	Samuel Pitchford
	Jessey Talley

	John Coleman
	William Rice
	John Talley

	Anderson Freeman
	William Roach
	Martha Talley

	Will Freeman
	John Spinner
	Heroderowder Tucker


1788.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=2, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1789.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=2, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=2 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1790.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=2, slaves under 16=1, horses, etc.=2 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1791.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=2, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=2 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1792.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=2, slaves under 16=1, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1793.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=3, slaves under 16=1, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1794.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=4, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1795.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=4, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=2 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1796.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=4, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1797.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=4, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1798.  David Hawkins, whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=4, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=2 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1795 - 1800.  Last will and testament of David Hawkins.  The heirs of David Hawkins were identified as 
· His wife, Elizabeth Hawkins (received all of estate for life)
· His grandson, Grief Borrow Hawkins (received land and plantation after death of Elizabeth, plus four slaves and bed and furniture)
· Robert Tanner (received one slave)
· Hezekiah Rudd (received one slave)
· Aldridge Rudd (received one slave)
· Son, William Hawkins (received all livestock and all household furniture after death of Elizabeth)
The executors named in the will were Hezekiah Rudd, Robert Tanner, and Matthew Wills.  The will was dated 17 Aug. 1795.  It was signed by David (X) Hawkins and witnessed by Labon (X) Coleman, Robert (R) Coleman, and John (X) Trimmer.  It was proved on 25 April 1799 with one witness and 27 Feb. 1800 with a second witness.

1799.  David Hawkins Est., whites over 21=---, slaves over 16=4, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1800.  David Hawkins Est., whites over 21=---, slaves over 16=3, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=2 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1801.  David Hawkins Est., whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=3, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1802.  David Hawkins Est., whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=3, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1803.  David Hawkins Est., whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=3, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1804.  David Hawkins Est., whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=3, slaves under 16=---, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
1805.  David Hawkins Est., whites over 21=1, slaves over 16=3, slaves under 16=1, horses, etc.=3 (Amelia County, Virginia, Personal Property Tax).
 
107
Elizabeth ???
The Wills family was involved in Hawkins family affairs in Amelia County.  In 1757, John Wills was a witness to their purchase of land from Thomas Green.  In 1782, Thomas Tabb Wills witnessed the sale of slaves by David to his daughter, Patty Tanner.  In 1795, Matthew Wills was named an executor in David’s will.  Finally, in 1804, Thomas Tabb Wills was a witness to the deed of gift from Elizabeth to her grandson, Grief Burrow Hawkins.  It is possible that Elizabeth was a Wills, but no direct evidence for that has been found.  
1804.  On 6 June 1804, Elizabeth (X) Hawkins of Raleigh Parish, Amelia County, gave her grandson, Grief B. Hawkins of Raleigh Parish, Amelia County, three horses for love and affection and $1.  The deed of gift was witnessed by Thomas T. Wills, Leonard Cliborn, and Samuel Ligon.  It was not recorded because it was proved by only two of the witnesses. (See Deeds Partly Proven G to P, Packet 5, Amelia County.)

1805.  Probably died.  Grief B. Hawkins, the grandson and heir after the death of Elizabeth, replaced the David Hawkins Estate in the personal property tax lists for Amelia County beginning in 1806.
  
Aside.  Grief Burrow Hawkins, grandson of Elizabeth and David, is presumed to be the son of their only known son, William Hawkins.  His mother might be a Burrow related to the Peter Burrow who appears on the David Hawkins’s 1769 tax list.  That Peter might be the Peter B---- found as a witness to the consent on the 8 Dec. 1774 marriage record of William Hawkins and Delila Martin.
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John LEA
20 Dec. 1779.  John Lea was granted 320 acres on Country Line Creek in Caswell County, North Carolina. The grant was entered on 4 Sep. 1778.  (See Grant No. 64; Warrant No. 267; Land Grant Book 41, p. 165.)

1779.  Referred to as “’John Lea (C. Line).'"

1791.  Appears among those indebted to the estate of Thomas Vanhook, dec'd, as "'John 
Lea Sen (of Country Line).'"

9 Jul. 1794.  John Lea Sr. received a grant of 30 acres in Caswell County on the waters of Country Line Creek.  The grant was entered on 1 Oct. 1789.  (See Grant Book 85, p. 194.)

10 March 1803.  The last will and testament of John Lea of Caswell County, North Carolina, reads as follows (emphasis added):

In the name of God Amen. I John Lea of Caswell County and State of. North Carolina, Being in a very low State of health at this time, but of perfect mind and memory Contemplatlng on mortality of my body knowing that it is ordained for all men once to die and after that to Judgement, do make and ordained this my last will and Testament. --

 first I recommend my Soul to God who give it me with Sure and Sertain hops of a Reserrection to Eternal life, and my body I commit to the earth to be buried in a decent Christian manner, at the descretion at my Executors hereafter named and touching my worldly Estate where with it hath pleased God to bless me with I dispose of it in manner and form following To witt--- 

Item my will and desire is that all mu Just Debts Should be paid---

Item I lend to my beloved wife Winnyferd all that Tract of land and Improvements whereon I now live one feather Bed and furniture also as much of the House and Kitchen furniture as She may want the plantation tools Two Cows, and Calves one Horse ? Six Hogs first Choice Six Sheeps of the first Choice and Two negroes Joe and Mollie during her natural life and at her death to be Equally divided Between Six of my Children (to witt) James John Benjamin Jeremiah Nancy and Sally excepting the land which I leave to my daughter Frankey for ever, I also will to Frankey at my death one negroe Boy Sam and one Cow and Calf---
Item my will is that my Daughter Betsey Evans Should have Negro Hanner during her life and at her death I leave hanner and her Increase to be equally divided between the Heirs of my daughter Betsey’s Body---

Item my will is that my daughter Sally have one Negro Girl Rachel during her life and at her death should be equally divided Between the Heirs of her Body She and her increase and one Cow and Calf---

Item I give to my Son Jeremiah one Cow and Calf---

Item I will that all of the Residue of my Estate both Real and personal to be equally divided between Six of my Children (To witt) James John Benjamin Jeremiah Nancy and Sally---

Item I will that John and Solomon Graves appraise and divide my estate amongst my Children agreeable to this my will--- 

Lastly I do hereby Constitute and appoint my Sons John James Benjamin & Jeremiah Lea whole and Sole Executors to this my Last will and Testament revoking all other wills and ratifying this only being my last will and Testament In Witness whereof I hereunto Set my hand and Seal this 10th day of March 1803.



John Lea {seal}
Signed Sealed & Delivered

In the presence of}



Solomon Graves (Jurat)
Barzillae Craves
John Graves (Jurat)
James Lea & Jere Lea qualify as Execs

Caswell County April Court 1803

The Execution of this will was only proven in open Court by the oath of Solomon Graves and John Graves Two of the Subscribing witnesses therto and on Motion ordered to be recorded---

At the Same time James Lea and Jeremiah Lea qualified Execr. to the Same and letters Issued accordingly

Test A. Murphy

10 May 1803.  Inventory of estate of John Lea (emphasis added): 

May the 10th, Inventory taken at the late Dwelling Home of John Lea Senr. Dec. To Wit -- 7 Negroes, Leann, Molly, Jo, Vice, George, Mary, & Aggey, 2 Horses, 14 Head of Cattle, 34 head of Hogs, 20 Head of Sheep, 2 smoothing Irons, 1 hand Saw, 1 + cut saw, 3 feather Beds & furniture, 3 bedsteads, 3 pots & hooks, 2 D. Ovens, 1 Frying pan, 3 Pewter Dishes, 5 Pewter basons, 8 Pewter plates, 1 Pewter Salt Cellers, 5 Pewter spoons, 2 earthen Dishes,  10 earthen plates, 4 Tea Cups & Six saucers, 2 Tea pots, 3 Bowles, 3 small Mugs, 1 peper box,  1 Cream pot, 1 Mustard pot, 2 Glass Tumblers,  1 dram Glass, 1 Glass Salt Celler, 1 Pint Decanter, earthen bason,  1 Cupboard, 1 Desk, 6 Chairs, 1 bottle, 2 pr. cotton cards, 1 Trunk, 2 Water Vessels, 2 Cotton Wheels, 1 Flax ditto, 1 Loom, 3 Stays, 1 Grind Stone, 4 Bells, 1 cutting knife & box, 3 Plows, 1 Coulter Plow, 4 Hill  4 Weeding Hoes,  4 Axes, 2 Mattocks, 1 Grubing Hoe, 3 bee hives, 2 Mens saddles, 1  Wagon & Gears,  1 Pr. Steelyards, 1 Frow, 1 pr. Foot adds, 1 Hhd. Jointer, 1 Jack plain, 2 pr. Iron Corn passes, 2 Augers, 2 Chizels, 1 Coopers Howel, 1 Sythe blade, 2 Jugs, 1 Iron Wedge, 1 Looking Glass, 1 case of knives & forks, 1 Large bible, 3 raw Hides, 5 Viols, 16 1/2 Bushels of rye, 1 pr. sheep shears, Shoe Makers Tolls, 3 Hogheads, 4 foils, 2 Draw Knives, 1 Gouge, 2 butter pots, 1 Shot Gunn, 1 Table, 1 Hone, 1Razor case & Strop, 1 pr. horse fleams, 1 Co Tea Kittle, 1 coffee Mill, 40 w Seed cotton, 14 1/2 w of Wool, 1 brass Crok, 1 Tin funnell, 1 Hackle, 1 Womans Saddle, 2 Meal bags, 1 Table Cloth, I Steel Trap, 1 Candle Stick, 1 Bond on Majr. Lea Senr, for £15..12..9 Currency Baring Date 25th day of March 1796, 3095 w of Parcel Tobacco, To parcel of corn, 1 pr. Shears



James Lea}
Execrs.


Jere Lea}

State of N.C. }

Caswell Co. July Court 1803}


This inventory was duly returned to Court and on Motion Ordered to be recorded,                       

Test.


A. Murphy, C.C.
7 June 1803.  First sale of the estate of John Lea.  The buyers were as follows (emphasis added): 


William Parker

Samuel Evans

Solomon Graves

Jeremiah Samuel

David Thomas

Jeremiah Lea

Elisha Evans

James Darby

James Lea

Robert Sanders

Francis Lea

John Lea (CB)

John Roan

Thomas Cambel

Thomas Lea

Freeman Hubbard
John Long

John Roper

William Sawyer

Thomas Donoho

Jesse Carter
This sale grossed 163 pounds 10 shillings 7 pence. 

16 Nov. 1803.  The slaves of John Lea were divided as follows (emphasis added): 




$
C

$
C

James Lea

To Lot No. 1 George
383
33
Dr.
108
50

William Zackry

To Lot No. 2 Joe

358
33
dr.
83
50

Benjamin Lea

To Lot No. 3 Vice

358
33
dr.
83
50

Thomas Lea

To Lot No. 4 Molly
175

due
99
83

Jeremiah Lea

To Lot No. 5 Mary
200

due
74
83

John Lea

To Lot No. 6 Agness
169}

due
100
83

& Linor


5}

Crop Tobacco divided equally 
5100 lbs

Ditto of Corn


44 barrls. 1 bus.

We the Subscribers being Cald. by the legatees of John Lea decd. to divide the Negroes and Crop of Corn and Tobacco agreeable to a Clause in the Will of the Said deceast did on the 16th day of November 1803 divide the above part of the estate as above Stated---

John Graves Senr.

S. Graves

16 Nov. 1803.  Second sale of the estate of John Lea.  The buyers were James Wisdom, Jesse Carter, Balt Dameron, Lott Egmon, Robt. Domiato(?), Nicholas Coils, James Peterson, John Johnson, Thomas Peterson, William Parker, Mary Hipworth, Isaac Jackson, Free Robin Walkins, Thos. Lea, Ephraim Nowel, Elisha Evans, John Long, John Lea Senr., James Lea, Jeremiah Lea, Benjamin Lea, Capt. John Graves, William Winters, Hearndon Lea. 

This sale grossed 176 pounds 14 shillings 1½ pence. 

111
Winnefred ???
According to Katherine Kerr Kendall in The Heritage of Caswell County, North Carolina, Winnefred was (emphasis added) “probably [a] Kavanaugh of Amherst County, Va.”
  Alternatively, Rebecca Dawson Fox in Amherst County, Virginia, Heritage Book, states that Winnefred, born circa 1727, was the fifth child of John Rucker and his wife Susannah.  John Rucker, born circa 1701, was a son of Peter Rucker and Elizabeth.  Peter, born circa 1675, and wife Elizabeth came to America circa 1700.

[image: image11.png]
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James COLEMAN

1732.  James was born in Goochland County, Virginia.
1751.  Married Elizabeth Leake in St. James Northam Parish, Goochland County, Virginia.

16 Nov. 1784.  James and wife Elizabeth sold 334 acres “’land whereon Samuel Coleman, deceased, had lived’” to Archer Payne (see Goochland County Deed Book 14, p. 100 or p. 144).
31 Jan. 1788.  The last will and testament of James Coleman, filed in Albemarle County, Virginia, read as follows (see Will Book 3, p. 323) (emphasis added): 
 
In the name of God Amen I, James Coleman, of the County of Albemarle being weak in body but of sound judgment and memory do constitute and appoint this my last will and testament, in the first place I commit my soul into the hands of Almighty God that gave it my body to the earth to be buried in a decent Christian like manner at the discretion of my Executors hereafter mentioned and touching my worldly affairs, in the first place my desire is that all my just debts be first paid and as touching my worldly estate I give and dispose of it in manner following. To wit: I give and bequeath unto my two daughters Judith Coleman and Jane Coleman two hundred and ten acres of land so extending the plantation whereon I now live joining Richard Woods Maureys John Baileys and John Gillums lines also all my plantation tools to them and their heirs forever. 
ltem-I give and bequeath unto my son Samuel Coleman two hundred acres of land lying joining Benjamin Taylor Edwin Gibson, James Cumbling and John Gillum also fifty six 
lying joining acres joining Col. Woods and Taylor also one hundred acres of land Robert Layne and John Baileys line to him and his heirs forever. 
ltem-I give and bequeath unto my son Samuel Coleman and Judith Coleman my bed and furniture to be equally divided between them to them and their heirs forever. 
ltem-I give and bequeath unto Mary Hatter one hundred thirty acres of land more or less lying in Amherst on Tye river so extending the plantation on which she now lives to her and her heirs forever. 
ltem-I give and bequeath to my daughter Lucy Watson one hundred and forty six acres of land being part of the tract of land whereon Bartlot Jerrol now lives on to her and her heirs forever. 
ltem-I give and bequeath to my daughter Susannah Johnson one hundred and forty six acres of land being part of the aforesaid tract of land on which the aforesaid Jerroll lives to her and her heirs forever. 
Item-I lend unto my daughter Maskey Jerrol one hundred and forty six acres of land enclosing the plantation whereon she now lives during her life and then to be equally divided among all her children to them and their heirs forever. 
ltem-I lend to my daughter Ann Bunnfield one hundred and forty six acres of land being part of aforesaid tract whereon the said Jerroll now lives on to her during her life and then to the issue of her body and to their heirs forever, and if she is without issues then my will and desire is that their legacy should be equally divided among all the children included in this will. 
ltem-I give and bequeath unto my granddaughter Nancy Isbell one hundred acres of land lying joining of James Reid and being part of the aforesaid tract that Jerroll now lives on to her and her heirs forever. 
Also my desire and will is that the two entries that I have in Amherst County be sold and the money equally divided among all the children included in this will and I farther my will and desire is that my still and blacksmith tools be sold and the money applied to pay my debts and the money arising from the sale of my negroes that I sold to my son Samuel Coleman be applied to discharge my debts and if there should be any left after discharging my debts then my will and desire is that it be equally divided among all the children included in this will. 
I do hereby constitute and appoint Samuel Coleman, John Hatter and John Bunnfield my sole executors of this my last will and testament and I do disavow and revoke all other wills and testaments whatsoever in witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my seal this thirty first day of January in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and eighty eight. 
Signed and delivered 
in presence of: 




James X Coleman [Seal] 
Talton Woodson 
Joseph Hobb 
Edwin Gibson 
Proved at Albemarle Court Sept. 1796 by oath of Talton Woodson and further at Albemarle June 1797 by oath of Edwin Gibson a second witness thereto and ordered to be recorded.
The last will and testament did not mention his wife Elizabeth or his daughter Elizabeth (but did mention granddaughter Nancy, who was probably Elizabeth’s daughter).  
Sep. 1796 and June 1797.  Last will and testament was proved in Albemarle County, Virginia (see Will Book 3, p. 323).
119
Elizabeth LEAKE

Irene Moss Sumpter shows in her article, “A Contribution to the Coleman-Leak Genealogy,” that Elizabeth Leake, the wife of James Coleman, is the daughter of Walter Leake and Judith Mask as follows (emphasis in the original): 

… Now please refer back to the children of James Coleman (of Albemarle 
County) and his wife Elizabeth as mentioned in James' will. There was a Judith, and Elizabeth Coleman's mother was Judith Mask. There was a daughter Maskey. Elizabeth Coleman's mother's maiden name was Mask. There was a daughter Mary, and Elizabeth Coleman's grandmother was Mary Bostick. On the Coleman side there was Samuel, named for James Coleman's father Samuel. A daughter, Ann Bunnfield (or Brunfield) named for her grandmother Ann Coleman. 
There were many, many James and Samuel Colemans of this period and it is often a puzzle to unravel their relationships. But in this case where all known dates fit and there seem to be no conflicting statements the picture seems complete.
11 Mar. 1732.  Elizabeth was born.
By 1788.  Elizabeth had died.
[image: image12.png]
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Ludwig STEPHAN (“Lewis STEPHENS”) 

1714.  Born in the Rhineland of Germany. 

2 May 1735.  Ludtwig Stephan was the sponsor at the baptism of John Paul, a son of Paul Fromman of Opequon, Virginia.
   

July 1736.  Appointed constable in Orange County, Virginia, in place of his father. 

19 Oct. 1736.  Lewis was granted a license to have an ordinary in his house by the Orange County, Virginia Court. 

7 June 1737.  Stephen Lewis sponsored the baptism of Lewis Leenwill [Linville], son of John Leenwill.
  Lewis Linville was the son of Lewis Stephens’s sister Maria Christina.
 
Summer 1737.  Lewis co-signed a road petition. 

24 Sep. 1737.  Lewis served on an Orange County, Virginia, Grand Jury looking into an accusation of adultery (the husband of one of the accused was also on the same Grand Jury).

27 April 1738.  Lewis Stephens and Lewis Neill were securities for a £200 bond for Isaac Perkins, who was appointed administrator by the Orange County, Virginia, court for several orphans of Joseph Hollingsworth, deceased, who were Perkins’s kin. 

About 1740.  Lewis married Mary Rittenhouse. 

16 November 1741.  Peter and Lewis Stephens witnessed the statement concerning the property brought by Maria Magdalena Nuschanger nee Stephens [Peter’s sister] when she married Jost Hite.
  Maria Magdalena was Lewis’s paternal aunt.

1742.  Birth of son Peter Stephens. 

24 Sep. 1742.  Lewis was fined 350 pounds of tobacco for failing to appear and provide evidence for William Linvell in a jury trial. 

20 August 1743.  Lewis purchased 200 acres in Orange County, Virginia, from Jost Hite for £60 (see Orange County, Virginia, Deed Book 7, p. 400). 
22 May 1744.  Lewis purchased 455 acres in Frederick County, Virginia, from Peter Writtenhouse of Pennsylvania for £45 (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book, p. 161).   Peter is likely Mary Stephens’s father.
4 Sep. 1744.  Cornelius Eltinge, a shopkeeper in Salem County, West New Jersey appointed Lewis as his attorney to collect debts owed by residents of Frederick County, Virginia, who had formerly lived in Salem County. 
About 1745.  Birth of daughter Mary Stephens. 
5 Aug. 1745.  Lewis, a miller, purchased 195 acres from John Kountz/Counts and wife Elizabeth for £65 (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 1, p. 227). 
  This property was on the road from Parkins Mill to Stephens Mill. 

1748.  Birth of son Lewis Stephens. 
21 Jan. 1749 - 24 Mar. 1749 (warrant and survey dates).   John Larrick Senr, had 400 acres surveyed that where he lived adjoining Lewis Stiffie/Stiffe alias Stephens, Jost Hite (now Lewis Stephen's land). The chain carriers were Larance Snapp and Joseph Vance. The surveyor was John Baylis.

26 Sept. 1766. Caveated by Jacob Chrisman [German signature]. 

31 May 1749 - 23 June 1749  (warrant and survey dates).  John Hill had 300 acres on Benja. Allens Mill Creek surveyed.  The chain carriers were Joseph Denham and George Nickles. Also present was Thomas Holeman.  The surveyor was George Byrne.

The original assignee, James Hill, had died.  On Aug. 1760, Mary Hill requested that a deed be issued to "’John Hill my Next Eldest Son.’" The witnesses were Lewis Stephens and Thos Powell. 

23 June 1749.  Lewis, a miller, mortgaged the 195 acres that he purchased in 1745 to Conrad Witner, a joiner, of Philadelphia for £100. 
4 Jan. 1749/50 - 12 Mar. 1750/51 (warrant and survey dates).  Samuel Glass Junr. had 200 acres where he lives on drains of Opeckon surveyed.  The land adjoins John Snapp Junr. and Hites survey (at the time the land of Samuel Glass Senr.), John Beckett, Lewis Stephens great spring.  The chain carriers were John Beckett and Joseph Glass. The surveyor was John Baylis. 

18 Jan. 1749/50 - 25 Nov. 1751 (warrant and survey dates).  Isaac Zane, assignee of Lewis Stephens Senr., assignee (in 1770) of John Young, had 200 acres surveyed where Young lived on branches of Cedar Creek at Limestone Ridge adjoining Lewis Stephens and Robt. Richey and Robt. Beale. The chain carriers were Goodman Young and Paul Frowman. The surveyor was John Baylis. 

13 Mar. 1750 (survey date; no warrant).  Mr. Lewis Stephens had  437 acres surveyed on drains of Opeckon and Crooked Run adjoining his own lines, Mary Reed, Capt Hite, Peter Stephens.  The chain carriers were Phillip Poker and Stephen Hossipell.  The surveyor was John Baylis. 

16 Mar. 1750 (survey date; no warrant).  Mr. Lewis Stephens had 81 acres surveyed adjoining his own land on Long Meadow, original patent of Hite and adjoining Sarah Campbell.  The chain carriers were Joseph Mcdowell and Chas Barnes.  The surveyor was John Baylis. 

12 May 1750 (survey date; no warrant). Isaac Zane Junr., John Potts and John Lesher, assignees of Majr. Lewis Stephens, assignee of Goodman and Mathew Young, heirs of Jane Young, widow of James Young, had 400 acres surveyed where Jane lived at Little North Mt. on Turkey Run and Cedar Creek adjoining Isaac White, Loghmiller (formerly Branson's). The chain carriers were Wm. Blackburn and Isaac White. The surveyor was John Baylis.

N.d. - “’Jane Young Surveyd this Land after the death of her Hus band by whom she had Sons & Daughters and dies deed being never Issued, her Eldest Son Marrys has a Son & Daughter both Father and Son are killed the same day by the Indians Mr Jones is of opinion the Daughter is heir at Law.’" (signed) BM Caveated by Majr Lewis Stephens.
1764 - The parties appearing & being heard his Lordship is of Opinion that a Deed ought to issue in the names of Goodman Young & Mathew Young the second & fourth sons of Jane Young... (damaged portion) that She intended this land for her Sons Goodman and Mathew, Elizabeth Nisbett, and Joseph Fawcett (a Quaker) witnessed the transfer from the Youngs to Stephens. 

4 Sept. 1750 - 21 Dec. 1751  (warrant and survey dates).  Daniel Curry bought 428 acres from George Hogg on branches of Ceader Creek on Mulberry Run adjoining Lewis Stephens.  The chain carriers were Lewis Stephens, Wm. Stephenson, Samuel Blackburn and Peter Refuer.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

4 Sept. 1750 - 26 Nov. 1751  (warrant and survey dates).  Joseph Black, orphan of the late John had 400 acres surveyed, which was, according to the warrant, where his father lived on the head spring of Buffalo Meadow adjoining Lewis Stephens.  The chain carriers were Samuel Colvill and Joseph Colvill. The surveyor was John Baylis. 

4 Sept. 1750 - 8 Mar. 1750/51 (warrant and survey dates).  Lawrance Stephens had 400 acres surveyed adjoining Lewis Stephens, Jacob Nisewanger and the old Waggon Road, Jacob Crisman, Mcdowell. The chain carriers were Peter Stephens and Laurance Snapp. The surveyor was Jno. Baylis.

20 August 1750.  Lewis mortgaged the 195 acres upon which he lived to Lord Fairfax for £100 sterling or £500 money of Great Britain.  This money appears to have been used to launch the Marlboro Iron Works. 
4 Sept. 1750 - 8 Mar. 1750/51 (warrant and survey dates).  Lawrance Stephens had 400 acres surveyed adjoining Lewis Stephens, Jacob Nisewanger and the old Waggon Road, Jacob Crisman, Mcdowell. The chain carriers were Peter Stephens and Laurance Snapp. The surveyor was Jno. Baylis.

3 October 1750.  Conrad Witner/Witenar surrendered the mortgage that he held on 195 acres owned by Lewis. 

2 Jan. 1750/51 - 18 Mar. 1750/51  (warrant and survey dates).  Mr. Gabriel Jones had 400 acres surveyed on the drains of Opeckon (Hites Opeckon Tract) adjoining Stephen Hofsitall (?) (formerly Jost Hite).  The chain carriers were Mr. Lewis Stephens and Capt John Hite. The surveyor was John Baylis. 

2 Jan. 1750/51 - 4 May 1752 (warrant and survey dates).  .  Lawrence Stephens, assignee of Capt Thomas Ashby, Junr., had 400 acres surveyed on head of Mcdowell's Marsh adjoining Thomas Ashby's land, Wm Hammett, Peter Stephens, Jacob Nicewanger.  The chain carriers were Peter Stephens and Jacob Nicewanger.  The surveyor was John Baylis. 

24 Jan. 1750/51 - 9 May 1752 (survey dates; no warrant).  Jesey Ashby had 487 acres surveyed upon Limestone Ridge adjoining Joseph Black, Alexander Dudley, Lewis Stephens, Robert Beale, Joseph Fewcatt. The chain carriers were John Young and Feolix Long, and the surveyor was John Baylis.

28 Sept. 1751 - 21 Mar. 1752 (warrant and survey dates).   John Larick, assignee of Mackdillon Christman had  285 acres surveyednear Cedar Creek adjoining his own (Larick) land, Lewis Stephens land bought of Hugh Divinia, M. Christman, Lawrence Snap, John Nicewanger, Jost Hites former pat. The chain carriers were Lewis Stephens, Lawrence Snap, Geo Larick. The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

24 Nov. 1751 (survey date; no warrant).  Paul Frowman, had 214 acres surveyed on Little North Mt. and drains of Cedar Creek adjoining his patented land, Joseph Fewcatt, Lewis Stephens.  The chain carriers were John Young and Peter Reffue.  The surveyor was John Baylis. 

27 Nov. 1751 (survey date; no warrant).  Mr. Lewis Stephens, no warrant, 171 acres on drains of Cedar Creek adjoining his own land, Paul Frowman, Robt Beale, John Young, Jos Fewcatt. The chain carriers were Goodman Young and Paul Frowman. The surveyor was Jno. Baylis. 

27 Nov. 1751 (survey date; no warrant).  Mr. Lewis Stephens had 799 acres surveyed on Limestone Ridge and Buffaloe Meadow adjoining John Young, Saml. Vance, David Logan, Joseph Bleck, Mr. Robt. Beale, Wm. Richey, Colvil (Joseph Black on survey and Widow Black on plat).  The chain carriers were Goodman Young and Paul Frowman.  The surveyor was John Baylis. 

27 Nov. 1751 (survey date; no warrant).  Mary Campbell obtained 500 acres surveyed on the north bank of Lewis Stephens Mill Run, a branch of Ceder Creek adjoining John Young and Lewis Stephens. The chain carriers were Goodman Young and Paul Frowman. The surveyor was John Baylis.

This land was forfeited by Robert Beale.  Robert Beal [sic] was of the Isle of Sheppy in Great Britain. 

20 Dec. 1751 (survey date; no warrant).  For the Lutheran Church and Congregation, John Snap, Senr., George Dellenger, Vallentine Wendal had 200 acres surveyed on the west side of the North River on drains of the said river.  The chain carriers were Lewis Stephens and Fredk. Dellenger.  The marker was Danl. Curry.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

22 Dec. 1751 (survey date; no warrant).  Lewis Stephens had 343 acres surveyed including his plantation bought of Shisters (?) execrs on Ceeder Creek adjoining Danl. Curry, Wm. Bays. The chain carriers were Peter Refuer and Henry Piper. The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

4 Jan. 1752.  Lewis was granted 81 acres in Frederick County, Virginia, by Lord Fairfax (see Northern Neck Grants H, p. 81).

4 Mar. 1752 (survey date; no warrant).  Henry Piper had 410 acres on west side of North River of Shannandoah including where he lives, near the Great Waggon Road adjoining George Dellinger.  The chain carriers were Lewis Stephens, Frederick and Jacob Dellinger.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

5 Mar. 1752 (survey date; no warrant).  Christian Craibil had 350 acres surveyed on the west side of the North River of Shannandoah adjoining his own line, George Dellinger, Peter Stover, Henry Piper, the Great Wagon Road. The chain carriers and markers were Lews. Stephens, Frederick and Jacob Dellinger and Henry Piper. The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

6 Mar. 1752 (survey date; no warrant).  Mr. Lewis Stephens had 1,384 acres surveyed on North River of Shannandoah adjoining his own land, John Stickly, Geo Bowman, Geo Dellinger and others for the use of the Dutch Chappel, Daniel Curry. Henry Piper, Christian Craibil, the Great Waggon Road. The chain carriers were Fredk. and Jacob Dellinger, Henry Piper, Christian Craibil. The surveyor was Robert Rutherford.

12 Mar. 1752.  Lewis was granted 799 acres in Frederick County, Virginia, by Lord Fairfax (see Northern Neck Grants H, p. 128).

13 Mar. 1752.  Lewis was granted 171 acres in Frederick County, Virginia, by Lord Fairfax (see Northern Neck Grants H, p. 130).

9 May 1752 (survey date; no warrant).  Mary Campbell obtained 500 acres surveyed on drains of Opeckon, including the Pond and the place called Paddey's Cabbin adjoining John Linton, Lewis Stephens Great Spring. The chain carriers were John Young and Felix Long. The surveyor was John Baylis.  The land had been surveyed for Robert Beale of England who forfeited it. 

25 May 1753 (survey date; no warrant).  Lewis Stephens, assignee (in 1753) of John Lewis Beard, had 276 acres surveyed on Hogs Creek (house drawn on plat) adjoining Geo Rubil.  The chain carriers were Peter Julian and Fredk. Ryder.  The surveyor was Jno. Mauzy. 

5 Aug. 1752.  Lewis was granted 1384 acres in what is now Shenandoah County, Virginia, by Lord Fairfax (see Northern Neck Grants H, p. 187).
  The Great Waggon Road traversed this property. 

5 Aug. 1752.  Lewis was granted 343 acres by Lord Fairfax (see Northern Neck Grants H, p. 188).

13 Dec. 1752 (survey date; no warrant).  Isaac Zane in his own right and as assignee of John Potts and John Lesher, all assignees of Lewis Stephens, John Hughs, John Potts, Junr. and Saml. Potts, all assignees of Angel Stockman, had 269 acres surveyed, including where Stockman lived on Ceder Creek, adjoining Nicholas Princelor, John Richards. The chain carriers were Frederick Princelor and Phillip Cross. The surveyor was Robert Rutherford.

7 Dec. 1763.   Ingle (X) Stuckman/Stickman of Philadelphia County. Pennsylvania, Yeoman, released this land before Benjamin Chew, Recorder of the City of Philadelphia. Witnesses were Robert Stephenson and John Hughs Junr. 

March 1753.  Lewis was appointed a militia Captain.
 

15 May 1753.  Lord Fairfax granted Lewis Lots 51, 52, and 53 in the town of Winchester.

1 Apr. 1754.  Lewis and Mary sold a 200-acre tract, an 81-acre tract, and 100 acres from a 455-acre tract to Lewis’s brother, Peter Stephens Jr. for £300 (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 3, p. 196). 
4 May 1754 (survey date; no warrant).  Adam Yager had 400 acres surveyed including where he lives on Narrow Passage Run adjoining Lewis Stephens, George Zeigler.  The chain carriers were Mark Ilor and Geo. Zeigler.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

24 Sept. 1754 - 24 May 1763 (warrant and survey dates).  Thomas Newell, assignee of Samuel Newell, husband of Elizabeth Black, had 313 acres surveyed on road from Winchester to Lewis Stephens at Buffalow Meadow, a branch of Ceeder Creek adjoining Joseph Black, Mr. John Baylis, John Bishop. The surveyor was not identified.

From the survey, Elizabeth Black, widow, married to Samuel Newell. On 31 Dec. 1770, Samuel Newell requested that the deed be issued to his son Thomas. 

31 May 1756.  Fees paid in full by widow Nicewanger. 

Apr. 1755 (survey date; no warrant).  Samuel Nizely had 495 acres surveyed where he lives on Narrow Passage Run adjoining Lewis Stephens.  The chain carriers were Peter Coffield and Christian Heltzly.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

5 May 1755 (survey date; no warrant).  Mr. Lewis Stephens had 366 acres surveyed on Ceeder Creek, a branch of North River of Shannandoah adjoining his own lines, Wm. Bay, John Stickly, Matthew Harbeson, John Moss. The chain carriers were Peter Refure and James Brown. The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

September 1758. James Wood received permission via an act of the Virginia General Assembly to enlarge the town of Winchester.  Lewis Stephens was one of the trustees named by the act.
 

September 1758.  Lewis was authorized to found a town by an Act of Assembly of the Colony of Virginia.
  This town was originally named Stephensburgh, but the name was later changed to Stephens City.  Stephens City still exists.  The text of the act is reported as follows:
   
An act for erecting a town on the land of Lewis Stephens in the County of Frederick.

I. WHEREAS, it hath been represented to this present general assembly that Lewis Stephens, being seized and possessed of nine hundred acres of land, near Opeccan, in the county of Frederick, hath surveyed and laid out forty acres, part thereof into lots of half an acre each, with proper streets for a town, and hat11 caused a plan thereof to be made, and numbered from one to eighty inclusive, and hath annexed to each of the said lots numbered 26, 27, 28,29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, five acres of land, and to each of the remaining sixty lots ten acres of land, part of the said nine hundred acres: All which lots, with the land annexed thereto, are purchased by different persons who are now settling and building thereon, and humbly desire that the same may be by act of assembly erected into a town, and that they may enjoy the like privileges as freeholders and inhabitants of other towns in this colony do enjoy.

Be it therefore enacted, by the Lieutenant Governor, Council and Burgesses, of this present General Assembly, and it is hereby enacted by the authority of the same, That the said nine hundred acres of land, so surveyed and laid off by the said Lewis Stephens, be, and the same is hereby erected and established a town, and shall be called by the name of Stephensburgh: And that the freeholders and inhabitants of the said town shall forever hereafter enjoy the same privileges as the freeholders and inhabitants of other towns erected by act of assembly, in this colony, do enjoy.
5 Nov. 1759.  Lewis purchased 860 acres from David and Elizabeth Logan for £500 (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 5, p. 377). 
By 1760.  Lewis was a militia Major.
 

5 May 1760.  Lewis and Mary sold the first half-acre lot in Stephensburg to Charles Dick (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 5, p. 406). 
24 Nov. 1760 (warrant) & 21 Feb. 1765 (warrant and survey).  Grantee - Major Lewis Stephens of Frederick County; surveyed land - 400 acres on Cedar Creek in Pattys/Paddys Gap between two large mountains; chain carriers - John Cook & Samuel Vance(?); surveyor - Thomas Rutherford.

10 Feb. 1762 - 25 May 1763 (warrant and survey dates).  Joseph Kellor, assignee of George Kellor, assignee of James Oliphant, assignee of William Spice had 345 acres surveyed on Mulberry Run adjoining Wm. Blackburn, Hugh Bays, Wm. Bays, Lewis Stephens, Danl. Curry, Benja. Blackburn.  The chain carriers were Sam Kennady and Geo. Tayler. The surveyor was Robt. Rutherford.

24 May 1763.  Spice to Olliphant. Signed, Wilhelm Spiss [German signature]. 

19 Sept. 1763.  James (X) Oliphant to George Kaller. 

10 Feb. 1762 - 28 May 1762 (warrant and survey dates).  Isaac Zane in his own right and as assignee of John Potts and John Lesher, all assignees of Majr. Lewis Stephens, had 3,195 acres surveyed on Cedar Creek at Great Falls under North Mt. adjoining, according to warrant, in warrant Henry Secrist, Nicholas Princeler, Leonard Copper, John Bachelor, Barnet Disponet, and adjoining, according to survey, John Jacob Disponet, Michael Poker, Jno. Bacheler, Jacob Cooper, Sears, John Richards, Angle Stockman, Nicholas Princeler, Henry Secrest on drains of Back Creek, John Frederick. The chain carriers were Jacob Brake and Jacob Birkly. The markers were Mr. Lewis Stephens and Peter Stephens. The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 



10 Feb. 1762 - 29 May 1762  (warrant and survey dates).  Bryan Bruin, assignee of Samuel Boyd had 279 acres surveyed on Turkey Run, one of the drains of Cedar Creek adjoining Isaac White, S. Boyd's land including where Wm White lived, Lewis Stephens, Evan Pugh. The chain carriers were James Vance and Jno. Fleming. The marker was Sam Boyd.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

15 Mar. 1762 - 10 June 1762 (no warrant; survey dates).  The grantee was Andrew Cofman, assignee (in 1772) of Joseph Pugh (surveyed for Pugh), had 152 acres surveyed on South side of North Mt. in Frederick County adjacent to Jacob Cochener/Cohener, Lewis Stephens, Colo. Hite, George Lantz.  The chain carriers were Anthoney Nizel & Henry Fravel; the markers were Joseph Pugh and John Lantz; the surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

4 May 1762.  Lewis and Mary sold 376 acres to Martin Setzer for £40 (they kept the ore rights) (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 7, p. 133). 
6 May 1762 - 7 June 1762  (warrant and survey dates).  Colo. John Hite had 248 acres surveyed on the south side North Mt. and drains of Shanondoah adjoining Stuphell Vendall and _____ Vendall/ Wendal, Lewis Stephens, Frederick Parratt, Augustine Wendall. The chain carriers were Lewis Bonnet and Harman Lovingood. The markers were Colo. Hite and Ben Hayman. The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

14 Apr. 1763 (two warrants) - 18 May 1763 (survey for Stephens and Co.).  Isaac Zane, Junr. in his own right and as assignee of John Potts and John Lesher, all assignees of Lewis Stephens and Co. obtained 1,455 acres on Hoggs Creek adjoining Ellis Thomas and Ezekial Cleaver, David Jones, Michael White, John Howard, Henry Seacrist, Nicholas Princelor, Angel Stockman, Rudolph White.  The chain carriers were Jacob Berkly, and Thomas and Henry Seacrist.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

14 Apr. 1763 - 20 May 1763 (warrant and survey dates).  Isaac Zane in his own right and as assignee of John Potts and John Lesher, all assignees of Majr. Lewis Stephens and Co. had 1,890 acres surveyed on Ceeder Creek including Paddys run, adjoining, according to warrant, John Blair, Peter Jordan.  The survey added and “’John Cook (at Gravels Spring).’”  The chain carriers were John Vance and Saml. Nance.  The markers were Peter Stephens and Andrew Vance.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford.

1764.  Thos. Bay delivered summons to appear at the Proprietor's Office to Peter Jordan of Maryland who had entered caveat. Jordan's response said he was from Frederick Co., Virginia.

14 Apr. 1763 - 15 Nov. 1769 (warrant and survey dates).  Isaac Zane, assignee of Lewis Stephens and Co., surveyed 507+ acres on the northest side of Little North Mt. on drains of Hoggs Creek adjoining Colo. Martin, John Dyar and Wm Chambers. The land was covered by multiple warrants.  The first warrant was issued to Stephens on 14 Apr. 1763.   The second warrant was issued on 11 April 1768 to “’Jacob Trout, Barbara Trout & Jacob Trout their Son’” for a tract where Edward McGinnis formerly lived on drains of Hoggs Creek.  The third warrant was issued to Jacob Trout, Barbara Trout and Jacob Trout Junr. for land adjoining their entry on Hogs Creek.  The first survey, on 11 Apr. 1768, was for the Trouts for land adjoining Absalom Hammon where Edwd. McGinnis formerly lived.  The chain carriers were Absalum Hammond and Christian Foglesongue.  The surveyor was Peter Stephens, who said he surveyed 440 acres on 5 July 1768 and 223 acres on 23 Feb. 1769. 

15 Nov. 1769.  Four caveats were entered by Nicholas Schultz, Isaac Zane, Edward McGinnis and the Trouts. The second survey was for Isaac Zane for land adjoining Dyar and Absalom Hammond.  The chain carriers were Absalom Hammond and John Wisecarver. Present at the survey were John Fawcett, Richard Douglass and Benja. Williams. The surveyor was Richard Rigg.

16 Dec. 1769. “’The Parties met & agreed to refer the Matter to Messrs Richard Rigg & Wm Hough whose Award they are to abide by if they shall agree but if they shall not, then the said Abitrators are to chuse an Umpire to which his Lordship has consented.‘”

13 Nov. 1770.  Riggs and Hough decided the dispute between Zane and the Trouts awarding the land to Zane. 

23 May 1762 (survey date; no warrant).  Isaac Zane Junr. in his own right and as assignee of John Potts and Jno. Lesher, all assignees of Lewis Stephens, himself assignee (in 1763) of Richard Kennedy, had 124 acres surveyed on the drains of Cedar Creek, including his improvements in the Pine Hills on waters of Penbrook and adjoining John Richards and James Sears. The chain carriers were Robt. Marney and Adam Shriver. The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

14 Apr. 1763 (two warrants) - 18 May 1763 (survey for Stephens and Co.).  Isaac Zane, Junr. in his own right and as assignee of John Potts and John Lesher, all assignees of Lewis Stephens and Co. obtained 1,455 acres on Hoggs Creek adjoining Ellis Thomas and Ezekial Cleaver, David Jones, Michael White, John Howard, Henry Seacrist, Nicholas Princelor, Angel Stockman, Rudolph White.  The chain carriers were Jacob Berkly, and Thomas and Henry Seacrist.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

14 Apr. 1763 - 20 May 1763 (warrant and survey dates).  Isaac Zane in his own right and as assignee of John Potts and John Lesher, all assignees of Majr. Lewis Stephens and Co. had 1,890 acres surveyed on Ceeder Creek including Paddys run, adjoining, according to warrant, John Blair, Peter Jordan.  The survey added and “’John Cook (at Gravels Spring).’”  The chain carriers were John Vance and Saml. Nance.  The markers were Peter Stephens and Andrew Vance.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford.

1764.  Thos. Bay delivered summons to appear at the Proprietor's Office to Peter Jordan of Maryland who had entered caveat. Jordan's response said he was from Frederick Co., Virginia.

14 Apr. 1763 - 15 Nov. 1769 (warrant and survey dates).  Isaac Zane, assignee of Lewis Stephens and Co., surveyed 507+ acres on the northest side of Little North Mt. on drains of Hoggs Creek adjoining Colo. Martin, John Dyar and Wm Chambers. The land was covered by multiple warrants.  The first warrant was issued to Stephens on 14 Apr. 1763.   The second warrant was issued on 11 Apr. 1768 to “’Jacob Trout, Barbara Trout & Jacob Trout their Son’” for a tract where Edward McGinnis formerly lived on drains of Hoggs Creek.  The third warrant was issued to Jacob Trout, Barbara Trout and Jacob Trout Junr. for land adjoining their entry on Hogs Creek.  The first survey, on 11 Apr. 1768, was for the Trouts for land adjoining Absalom Hammon where Edwd. McGinnis formerly lived.  The chain carriers were Absalum Hammond and Christian Foglesongue.  The surveyor was Peter Stephens, who said he surveyed 440 acres on 5 July 1768 and 223 acres on 23 Feb. 1769. 

Apr. 1768 to “’Jacob Trout, Barbara Trout & Jacob Trout their Son’” for a tract where Edward McGinnis formerly lived on drains of Hoggs Creek.  The third warrant was issued to Jacob Trout, Barbara Trout and Jacob Trout Junr. for land adjoining their entry on Hogs Creek.  The first survey, on 11 Apr. 1768, was for the Trouts for land adjoining Absalom Hammon where Edwd. McGinnis formerly lived.  The chain carriers were Absalum Hammond and Christian Foglesongue.  The surveyor was Peter Stephens, who said he surveyed 440 acres on 5 July 1768 and 223 acres on 23 Feb. 1769. 

15 Nov. 1769.  Four caveats were entered by Nicholas Schultz, Isaac Zane, Edward McGinnis and the Trouts on the above mentioned land. The second survey was for Isaac Zane for land adjoining Dyar and Absalom Hammond.  The chain carriers were Absalom Hammond and John Wisecarver. Present at the survey were John Fawcett, Richard Douglass and Benja .Williams. The surveyor was Richard Rigg.

16 Dec. 1769. “’The Parties met & agreed to refer the Matter to Messrs Richard Rigg & Wm Hough whose Award they are to abide by if they shall agree but if they shall not, then the said Abitrators are to chuse an Umpire to which his Lordship has consented.‘”

13 Nov. 1770.  Riggs and Hough decided the dispute between Zane and the Trouts awarding the land to Zane. 

23 May 1762 (survey date; no warrant).  Isaac Zane Junr. in his own right and as assignee of John Potts and Jno. Lesher, all assignees of Lewis Stephens, himself assignee (in 1763) of Richard Kennedy, had 124 acres surveyed on the drains of Cedar Creek, including his improvements in the Pine Hills on waters of Penbrook and adjoining John Richards and James Sears. The chain carriers were Robt. Marney and Adam Shriver. The surveyor was Robert Rutherford. 

27 Nov. 1762 - 23 May 1763 (warrant and survey dates).  .  Edward Whitehead, forfeited from John Bishop, assignee (in 1763) of John Sleeth/Sleech, 350 acres that were surveyed on a drain of Cedar Creek near the drain of Bufelow Marsh adjoining, according to warrant, Capt. McDowell, Jost Keelor, Joseph Black, Saml. Newell, and adjoining, according to survey, Thomas Ashbey, Joseph McDowell (formerly Logens), Lewis Stephens, Joseph Black.  The chain carriers were John Sleech and Hugh McDonnold. The surveyor was Robt. Rutherford. 

3 Oct. 1763.  Lewes Stephens purchased 6¾ acres from James and Anne Colvil (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 9, p. 46). 

4 May 1764.  Lewis and Mary sold 100 acres to David Holsinger for £10 (they kept the ore rights) (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 9, p. 318). 
4 Sep. 1765.  Lewis purchased 1122 acres in three tracts from Joseph and Margaret McDowell for £407 (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 10, p. 496). 

2 Sep. 1766.  Lewis and Mary sold 343 acres to George Miller for £50 (they kept the ore rights) (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 11, p. 180). 
2 Sep. 1766.  Lewis and Mary sold 439 acres to their son Peter Stephens for £100 (they kept the ore rights) (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 11, p. 182). 
21 Jan. 1767 - 29 Mar. 1774 (warrant and survey dates).  Grantee - Isaac Zane, assignee of Lewis Stephens of Frederick County; warrant and survey both in name of Lewis Stephens; warrant directed Peter Stephens to "Survey for your father 400 a...;" surveyed land - 400 acres on South side of Cedar Creek at foot of Little North Mt. adjacent to Colo. Isaac Zane's land bought from Lewis Stephens (formerly surveyed for Goodman Young), Branson's old patent (late George Lochmiller's & now Isaac Zane's), Jacob Fry, & land of Benjamin Fry, decd., bought of the late John Richards on the road leading from Henry Fry to the Marlboro Forge; chain carriers - John O'Neal & John Onians; surveyor - William Hough. 

2 Mar. 1767.  Lewis purchased a quarter section from Andrew and Ann Blackburn for £50.

17 Apr. 1767 (survey date).  Grantee - Jacob Pugh, heir at law of Evan/Evanday/Evende Pugh; no warrant; surveyed land - 280 acres on Turkey Run, a drain of Seeder Creek at Little North Mt. near Pugh's Spring; chain carriers - Samuel Fry & Lewis Stephens, Senr; surveyor - Peter Stephens. 

10 June 1767.  Lewis and Mary sold the 195 acres upon which they lived and an adjacent 171 acres to Isaac Zane Jr., ironmaster, for £1500 (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 11, p. 555). 
10 June 1767.  Lewis sold his quarter share in the Marlboro Iron Works to Isaac Zane Jr. (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 11, p. 555). 
20 July 1767 - 3 Apr. 1774 (warrant and survey dates).  Grantees - Isaac Zane, John Potts, Lewis Stephens, Samuel Potts & Isaac Zane, Junr.; 338 acres on Little Stony Creek adjacent to Jacob Woolf, Adam Granstaf, Peter Coffel/Coffield; chain carriers - John Knizely & Jacob Woolf, Junr.; surveyor - William Hough. 

20 July - 6 Apr. 1774 (warrant and survey dates).  Grantees - Isaac Zane, John Potts, Lewis Stephens, Samuel Potts, Isaac Zane, Junr.; surveyed land - 390 acres on Ryan's Branch of Stony Creek (from warrant) adjacent to Martin Roller, the same having been entered by John Kebler who is not to be found, (from survey) adjacent to Martin Roller (now Cudlip Sink's); chain carriers - Jacob Woolf, Junr., Christipher Coffield; surveyor - Wm. Hough. 

20 July 1764 - 20 Nov. 1774 (warrant and survey dates).  Grantees - Isaac Zane, John Potts, Lewis Stephens, Samuel Potts, Isaac Zane, Junr.; surveyed land - 400 acres between Stoney Creek & Narrow Passage Run, the same entered formerly by Joseph Sterrett who refused to survey adjacent to John McKenny (now Jos. Pugh's), Abraham Brewbaker, John Hite; chain carriers - Jeremiah Coffer & John Nizely; surveyor - William Hough. 

20 July 1767 - 20 Apr. 1777 (warrant and survey dates).  Grantees - Colo. Isaac Zane, John Potts, Lewis Stephens, Samuel Potts, Isaac Zane, Junr; surveyed land - 260 acres formerly entered by Daniel Stout who refused to survey that is on the North fork of Stony Creek including Stout's Lick; chain carriers  - Charles Taylor & Daniel Walter; surveyor - William Hough. 

5 Aug. 1767 (survey date; no warrant).  Matthias Sheets, assignee of Lewis Stephens, had 1,000 acres survryred on Narrow Passage Run on North River of  Shannandoah; (Two surveys for Lewis Stephens were made in 1753.) The surveyor was Robert Rutherford.

N.d. “’By desire of Maj Lewis Stephen Deed to issue in name of Mathias Sheets - Philadelphia.’” 

6 Aug. 1767 - 2 Apr. 1774 (warrant and survey dates).  Grantees - Messrs. Isaac Zane, John Potts, Lewis Stephens, Samuel Potts & Isaac Zane, Junr.; surveyed land - 350 acres on Laurel Branch of Stoney Creek adjacent to Zane’s own land, Edward Ryan, Christian Funkhouser, Cudlip Sink; chain carriers - Jacob Woolf, John Knisely; surveyor - William Hough. 

6 Aug. 1767 - 2 Apr. 1774 (warrant and survey dates).  Grantees - Isaac Zane, John Potts, Lewis Stephens, Samuel Potts & Isaac Zane, Junr.; surveyed land - 350 acres on Laurel Branch of Stony Creek adjacent to Cudlip Sink, Daniel Stout, CC - Jacob Woolf, Junr. & John Augustine Wendle, Edward Ryan. Knisely; surveyor - William Hough. 

6 Aug. 1767 - 21 Nov. 1774 (warrant and survey dates).  Grantees - Isaac Zane, John Potts, Lewis Stephens, Samuel Potts, Isaac Zane, Junr.; surveyed land - 390 acres on North side of the main branch of Stoney Creek where Ilor's road crosses at mouth of Cat Hollow in Frederick County adjacent to Zane's own land, Jos. Pugh, Vallentine Coffield, John Stover, chain carriers - Jeremiah Coffer & John Nizely; surveyor - William Hough. 

8 Apr. 1768 - 26 Nov. 1774 (warrant and survey dates).  Grantees - Isaac Zane, John Potts, Lewis Stephens, Samuel Potts, Isaac Zane, Junr.; surveyed land - 294 acres on both sides of the old road leading to Augusta on Stoney Creek, a branch of Shenandoah River in Frederick County adjacent to Isaac Ruddle, Jonathan Langdon, Christin Bowman, Ulrick Miller; chain carriers - Jeremiah Coffer & John Nizely; surveyor - William Hough. 

25 Feb. 1769 - 20 May 1769 (warrant and survey dates).  Grantee - Anthony Knizley/Nizely of Frederick County; surveyed land - 347 acres near Narrow Passage circa 3 miles from Woodstock adjacent to (from warrant) Saml Nizely, Isaac Ruddel, Matthias Sheets, Adam Yagar, John Martin Folts/Fults/Fouts, George Segler, and adjacent to (from survey) Fults, Yagar, Henry Gabral Burgrat, John Hite, Lewis Stephens; chain carriers - Antony Knisley, Senr. & Michle Knisley; surveyor - Peter Stephens. 

15 Nov. 1769.  Four caveats were entered by Nicholas Schultz, Isaac Zane, Edward McGinnis and the Trouts. The second survey was for Isaac Zane for land adjoining Dyar and Absalom Hammond.  The chain carriers were Absalom Hammond and John Wisecarver. Present at the survey were John Fawcett, Richard Douglass and Benja .Williams. The surveyor was Richard Rigg.

16 Dec. 1769. “’The Parties met & agreed to refer the Matter to Messrs Richard Rigg & Wm Hough whose Award they are to abide by if they shall agree but if they shall not, then the said Abitrators are to chuse an Umpire to which his Lordship has consented.‘”

13 Nov. 1770.  Riggs and Hough decided the dispute between Zane and the Trouts awarding the land to Zane. 

25 Sep. 1770.  Lewis was granted 366 acres in what is now Shenandoah County, Virginia, by Lord Fairfax (see Northern Neck Grants O, p. 316).

28 May 1771.  Lewis and Mary held a £200 mortgage on the 439 acres that their son Peter Stephens had purchased from them (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 15, p. 143). 
7 May 1773.  Isaac Zane Jr. paid Lewis and Mary £500 for the mortgaged 439 acres that that their son Peter had purchased from them.  This purchase not only paid off the mortgage held by, it also got Zane the property’s mineral rights, which were also held by Lewis and Mary.  Peter and his wife Barbara had already sold the land to Zane for £750 on 24 Feb. 1773. (See Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 11, pp. 130, 153.) 
Circa 1778.  Lewis Stephens sen. and his wife were among the founding members of the Stephensburg Methodist Church. 

12 Sep. 1778.  Lewis and Mary sold 231 acres in Shenandoah County, Virginia, to Thomas Newell for £15 (see Shenandoah County, Virginia, Deed Book C, p. 307). 
Undated survey (no warrant).  Peter Stephens Senr., had 572 acres surveyed adjoining his own land, Jacob Nicewanger, Gabriel Jones, Thos. Ashby Junr., the original patent of Jost Hite, Widow Reed, Lewis Stephens. The chain carriers were John Snapp and John Young. The surveyor was John Baylis.

Undated survey (no warrant).  Samuel Vance, assignee of John Hustin had 255 acres surveyed on drains of Cedar Creek adjoining Lewis Stephens and Co. The chain carriers were Lewis Stephens and Jno. Cook.  The surveyor was Thomas Rutherford. 

5 May 1787.  Lewis Stephens was visited by the taxman in Frederick County, Virginia, concerning his personal property taxes.  His household had two white males over 21 (himself and Henry Swisher), one white male 16-21, two slaves over 16, six horses, etc., and 12 cattle.  His likely neighbors included the following, all of whom were visited by the taxman on the same day that Lewis was (the names are given in alphabetical order, not visitation order): 

	Andrew Acre
	Charles Forgason

	William Archer
	Simmean Haines

	Nicholas Areheart
	Richard Hallett

	Charles Barnes
	Joseph Huffman

	Robert Carter, Esqr.
	Robert Newman

	Adam Cline
	Andrew Redd

	Thomas Dann
	John Rightenhour

	Esias Earls
	George Shanor

	Jonathan Edmonds
	Thomas Stuthard

	Sirrines Emmons
	Henry Swisher

	Samuel Ewen
	Christopher Woolf


10 Feb. 1797.  Lewis signed his will (see Frederick County, Virginia, Will Book 8, p. 198). 
His heirs were
· His wife (no name)
· Son Lewis Jr. (executor)
· Daughter Mary Emmett
Late 1805 or early 1806.  Lewis died.
4 Feb. 1806.  Lewis’s will was proved (see Frederick County, Virginia, Will Book 8, p. 198).
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Mary RITTENHOUSE

About 1720.  Born in Pennsylvania.
Sep. 1748.  Named first among the children in her father’s will.
4 Nov. 1783.  Lewis Stephens and Mary “’late Rittenhouse’” were identified as heirs of Peter Rittenhouse when they sold the land that Mary had inherited in Germantown Township, Pennsylvania, to Isaac Zane of Frederick County, Virginia.
About 1797.  Died in Frederick County, Virginia.
[image: image13.png]
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Robert WILLSON

About 1700.  Robert was born, 
 possibly in County Armagh, Ireland.
 
Before 23 June 1733.  Robert probably arrived from Ireland at this time.  According to Robert G. VanMeter, on the front of a tombstone in the graveyard of the Old Opecquon Church in Frederick County, Virginia, was inscribed the following (emphasis added):

John Wilson
intered Here

The Bodys of

His 2 Childer  &

Wife yd Mother

Mary Marcus

Who dyed Agst
The 4th 1742

AL ged 22 years
On the reverse side of the tombstone was inscribed

From

JRLAND

Ju L y vith  1737

Coty  Argma

g. H.
Furthermore, according to William Henry Foote, this tombstone was 

… the first, with an inscription, reared in the Valley of Virginia to mark the resting-place of an emigrant— you will scarcely read the inscription on one side, or decipher the letters and figures on the other.  The stone crumbled under the unskilful hands of the husband, who brought it from that eminence yonder on the west, and, in the absence of a proper artist, inscribed the letters himself, to be a memorial to his young and lovely wife.  Tradition says he was the school-master. …
On the side on which Ireland is chiselled, the pebbles in the stone, or his unsteady hand, made large indentures, and rendered the inscription almost illegible.  Here the stone has stood, a monument of affection, and marked the grave of the early departed… .
John Willson is presumed to be one of Robert's brothers.  According to T. K. Cartmell (emphasis added), 

It appears that Robert Willson a brother came at the same time [as John Willson, the schoolmaster] and settled on his plat of ground near the railroad station at Kernstown; erected a stone and log dwelling combined; lived there and reared a family, who intermarried with the Glass and McDowell families. The Willson family removed to Kentucky and Tennessee. 
T. K. Cartmell was wrong about Robert coming from Ireland at the same time as John, given that Robert is known to have purchased land in Maryland in 1733.

According to Warren R. Hofstra, Robert Willson had property that adjoined that of Thomas Marquis and John Willson, Robert’s presumed brother, on the east and Thomas Willson, Robert’s known brother, on the north in the “Open-Country Neighborhood at Upper Opequon Creek.”
  Because of the similarity of “Marcus” and “Marquis,” Thomas Marquis is presumed to be John Willson’s brother-in-law.
23 June 1733.  Robert purchased 122 acres adjoining William Hogge in Cecil County, Maryland, from Samuel Robinette of Chester County, Pennsylvania, farmer, for £52.  The land was already in Willson’s possession at the time of the purchase.  Witnesses were Alex Lang, Rich’d Dobson, and Jno. Thomas (see Cecil County, Maryland, Liber P, Folio 309). 

25 Nov. 1739.  Robert witnessed deed for Thomas Dawson in Orange County, Virginia (see Orange County, Virginia, Deed Book 3, p. 477 or 480).
5 May 1740.  Robert purchased 205 acres from William Hoage for £12 in Orange County, Virginia (see Orange County, Virginia, Deed Book 4, p. 14).  
14 May 1740.  Robert purchased 295 acres from Robert and Jane Smith for £55 in Orange County, Virginia (see Orange County, Virginia, Deed Book 4, p. 14).
4 Aug. 1741.  Robert and wife Garnita sold 122 acres in Cecil County, Maryland, to William Irwin for £70.  
25 Sep. 1741.  Robert was appointed overseer of a new road from Hollingsworth’s Mill to Jost Hite’s Mill in Orange County, Virginia (see Orange County, Virginia, Court Book, 3, pp. 8, 198).
11 May 1744.  Robert was on the first grand jury empaneled for Frederick County, Virginia.

26 June 1744.  Robert purchased 167½ acres from his brother Thomas for 56 pounds and 5 shillings (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 1, p. 106).
4 Jan. 1749/50 - 11 Mar. 1750/51 (warrant and survey dates).  Thomas Marquis and John Wilson [presumed brother of Robert Wilson] had 586 acres surveyed where they live near Opeckon adjoining Wm Hoge/Hogg, Sr., John Bullaugh, Mr. Gabriel Jones, John.Harrow, Stephen Hofitalls (?) Hosifall (?), Robt. Wilson, George Hogg, Calvins patent, Robt. Glass, Lewis Stephens Road.  The chain carriers were Saml. Pritchet and Wm. Colvin. The surveyor was John Baylis. 

14 Mar. 1749/50 - 18 Apr. 1750 (survey dates; no warrant).  Robert Wilson had 157 acres surveyed near where he lived adjoining Mr. Isaac Perkin's 388 acres survey, Wm. Hogg, Robt. Colvert. The chain carriers were Joseph Lupton and Enoch Pearson. The surveyor was George Byrne. 

Aug. 1750 (warrant date date; no survey).  Robert Wilson warranted 90 acres adjoining his own patent, which was surveyed for Robert Smith. 

22 Aug. 1750 - 27 Oct. 1750. (warrant and survey dates).  Robert Wilson had 212 acres surveyed adjoining patent lines where he lives and between Jost Hite “’(bought of Smith)’” adjoining Thos. Dawson.  The chain carriers were Thos. Marques and Abraham Wiseman. Present at the survey was Robert Coulvert.  The surveyor was not identified. 

16 Oct. 1750.   Robert Wilson received a grant from Lord Fairfax for 157 acres adjoining William Hogg and Isaac Perkins in Frederick County, Virginia (see Northern Neck Grants G, p. 447). 
 
24 Oct. 1750 (survey date; no warrant)..  Robert Wilson had 355 acres of land he bought from Widow Minner (Athalia Minor written beside description) adjoining John Culvert, Thomas Dawson.  The chain carriers were Thos. Markas and Abraham Wiseman. The surveyor was not identified. 

22 Jan. 1750/51-22 Oct 1750 (warrant and survey dates).  .  George Wright had 615 acres surveyed on branches of  the Opeckon whereon he lives having made a small improvement adjoining David Vance, Hite's grant. The chain carriers were Wm. Ewen, Rudey Bumgardner. Present at the survey was Robert Willson. The surveyor was not identified. 

10 June 1750 - 27 Oct. 1750 (warrant and survey dates).  Stephen Pritchard, assignee of George Hogg/Hoge, had 326 acres surveyed adjoining Geo. Hogg’s father's patent where he lives to include the improvement. The survey adds adjoining land granted Wm. Hoge, decd., Robt. Willson. The chain carriers were Thos. Marques and Robt Colvert. The surveyor was not identified. 

1 Sept. 1751 - 7 Apr. 1752 (warrant and survey dates).  Samuel Sample, assignee of Abraham Wiseman, had 425 acres surveyed on Calverts Run where Abraham lives adjoining Robt. Wilson and Edwd Griffey.  The chain carriers were Robt. Calvert and Wm. Corlett. The surveyor was William Baylis. 16 May 1757 - Abraham Wiseman, deed. 

26 Oct. 1751.  Robert Willson received a grant from Lord Fairfax for 212 acres adjoining Thomas Dawson in Frederick County, Virginia (see Northern Neck Grants, H, p. 51).

15 Feb. 1752 - 19 Mar. 1752 (survey dates; no warrant) Edward Griffey had 241 acres surveyed on branches of the Opeckon adjoining Robt. Calvert, Wm. Glover, Robt. Wilson. The chain carriers were James Hoge and Robt. Wilson. The surveyor was William Baylis. 

4 Aug. 1752.  Robert Wilson received a grant from Lord Fairfax for 355 acres in Frederick County, Virginia, beginning on the west side of Hogs Run corner to John Colvert, etc. (see Northern Neck Grants H, p. 186). 

4 Nov. 1752 - 15 Dec. 1754 (warrant and survey dates).  Robert Wilson had 316 acres surveyed on Opeckon and Wilsons Run adjoining his own land, Colo. Thomas, Bryant Martin, Thos. Mechan, James Vance, Lewis Reno.  Pilots were Danl. Southerland and James Wilson. The surveyor was William Baylis.

27 Mar. 1753 - 23 Oct. 1753 (warrant and survey dates).  Lewis Reno(e) of Prince William Co.; 428 acres on drains of Opeckon; adjoining Abrm. Wiseman, Robt. Wilson, Wm. Curlett, Colo. Carter. The chain carriers were Robt. Colvert and John Wiseman. The surveyor was William Baylis. 

21 May 1753 (survey date; no warrant).  Mr. Isaac Perkins had 1,248 acres surveyed where he lives including several tracts of waste land in Perkins Mill Run, a branch of Abraham's Creek, a branch of Opeckon on the Great Waggon Road adjoining widow Lydia Malen, Robt. Colvert, Robt. Wilson, Geo. Hogg, Wm Cochran, Chas Perkins, Colo. James Wood. The chain carriers were Robt. Fox and John Roe. The surveyor was John Baylis. 

10 Oct. 1754.  Robert Wilson received a grant from Lord Fairfax for 316 acres in Frederick County, Virginia, adjoining the lines of a late survey made by Mr. Byrne and James Vance on or near Opeckon Creek (see Northern Neck Grants H, p. 463). 

2 Jan. 1755.  Robert Wilson received a grant from Lord Fairfax for 464 acres in Frederick County, Virginia, adjoining the land of Hog, Hite, Vance, etc. (see Northern Neck Grants H, p. 591). 

3 June 1755.  Robert and wife Garrala/Garnita/Geonita sold 200 acres to son James Willson for £100.  The land was in Frederick County, Virginia (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 4, p. 20).
20 June 1756 (survey date; no warrant).  Robert Wilson had 464 acres surveyed including 295 acres granted to Thomas Dawson in 1735 adjoining Wm. Hoge, Hites lines, Jas. Vance, decd., Dawson. The chain carriers were James Wilson, Robt. Wilson Junr., Saml. French.  The surveyor was Robert Rutherford.

3 Mar. 1761.  Robert transferred his 355-acre grant, which had shrunk to 353 acres, to his son, Robert Willson Jr.  The land was in Frederick County, Virginia (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 6, p. 147).
30 Sep. 1765.  Robert sold 3½ acres to Adam Kern for £27 (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 11, p. 1).  
4 Mar. 1767.  Robert gave Peter and Barbara Stephens 254 acres (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 11, p. 331).  Barbara was his daughter.
14 Mar. 1768.  Robert gave 153½ acres to Joseph and Elizabeth Glass (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 12, p. 233).    Elizabeth was his daughter.
2 May 1768.  Robert sold 538½ acres to son James for £1200 (see Frederick County, Virginia, Deed Book 12, p. 234).
17 Dec. 1774 (survey date; no warrant).  Isaac Zane had 24 1/2 acres surveyed on Cedar Creek adjoining Wm. Evans, Robert Wilson, Samuel Colvin.  The chain carriers were Hugh Brown and John Veal.  The surveyor was William Hough for John Hough. 

Nov. 1777.  Date of Robert’s will.  In his will, Robert mentioned the following (see Frederick County, Virginia, Will Book 4, p. 444):
· Sons John, James, Robert Jr.
· Brother Thomas
· Son James’s children Robert, Margaret, Sarah
· Son John’s child John
· Son Robert Jr.’s son Robert (III)
· Daughter Elizabeth Glass’s children Robert and Geonita
· Daughter Barbara Stephens’s children Robert Willson and Geonita
5 May 1779.  Robert‘s will was proved in Frederick County, Virginia Court. 
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Garrala/Garnita/Geonita HOGE
Compelling circumstantial evidence indicates that Geonita (etc.) was a daughter of William Hoge and his wife Barbara Hume.  
· First, on 23 June 1733, Robert Willson purchased 122 acres adjoining William Hoge in Cecil County, Maryland, from Samuel Robinett for £52. 
  
· Second, on 5 May 1740, Robert Willson bought 205 acres in Orange County, Virginia, from William Hoge for £12.  On 14 May 1740, only nine days later, he bought 295 acres in Orange County, Virginia, from John and Jane Smith for £55.  The second transaction makes the first appear to be a sweetheart deal.  
· Third, according to Warren R. Hofstra, Robert Willson had property that adjoined that of William Hoge in the “Open-Country Neighborhood at Upper Opequon Creek” in the Shenandoah Valley (Hoge’s property was directly north of Robert Willson’s).
  
· Fourth, according to a posting by “StevenZuraff55” on the Hoge family message board of Ancestry.com, Geonita was the third daughter of William Hoge and his wife Barbara Hume, as well as Robert Willson’s wife.
  

· Fifth, according to James Hoge Tyler, “Nancy” the second daughter of William Hoge and his wife Barbara Hume was married to Robert Wilson. 
  
After 1706.  Born.

Nov. 1777 or earlier.  Died (she was not mentioned in her husband’s will and did not appear in land transactions after 3 June 1755).

� An important source of information for James McMahan was an undated packet of McMahan family materials sent by Floreen Levasseur (now deceased), Oxford, MA, to Ruth Canote (now deceased), Kansas City, MO.  The package included 


A photocopy of a handwritten page by Susan Moseley Woodroof (dated 27 Nov. 1914) about the McMahan family in Callaway County, asserting, among other things, that Jesse McMahan was a son of John McMahan and Sallie Boone, daughter of Israel Boone 


Various family group sheets, mainly for the McMahan family in Callaway County


A photocopy of p. 84 of the book Carolina Cradle by Robert W. Ramsey 


Photocopies of pp. 486-491 of the book The Scotch-Irish by Charles A. Hanna 


Photocopies of “James McMahan (1714-1799) Of Early Rowan County, N.C. And Some of His Descendants,” an essay from an unknown source 


Photocopies of photos of the tombstones of James and Susanna McMachan with transcripts of what the tombstones have written on them


“Our McMahans Were From Ayrshire,” by Idros Roberts, 1982


Sundry other materials  


At least in part, the package appears to have originated with Idros Roberts nee Maize (1893-after 1982) in 1982.  Unless otherwise stated, the source of information used was “James McMahan (1714-1799) Of Early Rowan County, N.C. And Some of His Descendants,” one of the items included in this packet.


� Robert W. Ramsey, Carolina Cradle, The University of North Carolina Press, Chapel Hill, 1964, p. 84. 


� Robert W. Ramsey, Carolina Cradle, The University of North Carolina Press, Chapel Hill, 1964, p. 84. 


� Robert W. Ramsey, Carolina Cradle, The University of North Carolina Press, Chapel Hill, 1964, p. 217. 


� Carol Bryant, New Castle County, Delaware, Land Records, 1715-1728, Heritage Books, Westminster, MD, 2007, pp. 149, 154.


� Carol Garrett, New Castle County, Delaware, Land Records, 1728-1731 & 1734-1738, Delmarva Roots, Lewes, Delaware, 2001, p. 136.


� Carol Garrett, New Castle County, Delaware, Land Records, 1728-1731 & 1734-1738, Delmarva Roots, Lewes, Delaware, 2001, p. 141.


� Carol Garrett, New Castle County, Delaware, Land Records, 1728-1731 & 1734-1738, Delmarva Roots, Lewes, Delaware, 2001, p. 167.


� Robert W. Ramsey, Carolina Cradle, The University of North Carolina Press, Chapel Hill, 1964, p. 84.  The chapter in which this reference occurs is entitled “In the Forks of the Yadkin, 1752-1762.” 


� Pennsylvania Archives, Third Series, Vol. XXIV, “Warrantees of Land in the County of Lancaster--1733-1896,” p. 475 (James McMahan), p. 477 (John McMechon and James McMachen), p. 481 (Andrew McMacken).  James McMahan obtained warrant no. 379 for 100 acres in Antrim Township on 18 Feb. 1744.  He did not patent the land.  James McMachen obtained warrant no. 489 for 50 acres in Earl Township on 23 Aug. 1746.  He did not patent the land.  Andrew McMacken obtained warrant no. 552 for 40 acres in Hanover Township on 11 Apr. 1750.  He did not patent the land.  John McMechon obtained warrant no. 505 for 300 acres in Mt. Joy Township on Beaver Creek (Susquehanna River watershed) on 29 May 1746.  He did not patent the land These can be found on pages 141, 143, and 148 of the Warrant Register for Lancaster County, PA [digitized original register online at www.phmc.state.pa.us/bah/dam/rg/di/r17-88WarrantRegisters/r17-88AllCountiesInterface.htm].


� “Mary Reed Frost (b. 01 November 1803, d. 18 December 1895),” familytreemaker.genealogy.com/users/s/c/h/Beverly-J-Schonewolf/WEBSITE-0001/UHP-0032.html.  The original source was identified as a “Photocopy of handwritten account by Mary Frost Defrees.”


� "The McMahan Family Descendant Chart, Showing early McMahan Families in Cooper and Saline Counties, Missouri," by William Reese Walker, Hot Springs Village, AR, Feb. 1995, p. 1.  This chart was a joint effort of a number of McMahan family researchers that was coordinated by William Reese Walker.  The original source of the birthdate is unknown.


� “Mary McMahan,” familytreemaker.genealogy.com/users/s/c/h/Beverly-J-Schonewolf/WEBSITE-0001/UHP-0139.html.


� “James McMahan (1714-1799) Of Early Rowan County, N.C. And Some of His Descendants,” an essay from an unknown source.


� “Mary McMahan,” familytreemaker.genealogy.com/users/s/c/h/Beverly-J-Schonewolf/WEBSITE-0001/UHP-0139.html.


� Sources:


MARS, Id. 12.12.78.38, online, North Carolina State Archives.


Margaret M. Hofmann, The Granville District of North Carolina, 1748-1763, Vol. 5, 1995, p. 316.


� James W. Wall, History of Davie County in the Forks of the Yadkin, Davie County Historical Publishing Association, Mocksville, North Carolina, 1969, pp. 21-22.


� Sources:


MARS, Id. 12.12.78.37, online, North Carolina State Archives.


Margaret M. Hofmann, The Granville District of North Carolina, 1748-1763, Vol. 5, 1995, p. 316.


� Pension statement of Rebecca McMahan, Clermont County, Ohio, transcribed by Will Graves, revwarapps.org/r6786.pdf.


� Jo White Linn, Abstracts of the Deeds of Rowan County, North Carolina, 1753-1785, circa 1983, p. 41.


� Jo White Linn, Abstracts of the Minutes of the Court of Pleas and Quarter Sessions, Mrs. Stahle Linn, Jr., Salisbury, NC, 1977, p. 152.


� Jo White Linn, Rowan County, North Carolina, Tax Lists 1757-1800, Salisbury, NC, 1995, p. 116.


� James W. Wall, History of Davie County, Davie County Historical Publishing Association, Mocksville, NC, 1969. p. 60.


� Adlai Osborne, List of Taxable Property in the County of Rowan, North Carolina, Anno 1778: Transcribed from Several Lists Returned by the August Term Anno 1778: (also see page 30 for tax lists of 1784), Washington, 1953, p. 26.


� Pennsylvania Archives, Third Series, Vol. XXI, Harrisburg, PA, 1897, p. 66.


� Frederick County, MD, Will Book Liber GM No. 1, pp. 134-137 [digitized copy online at Familysearch.org].


� Jo White Linn, Abstracts of the Deeds of Rowan County, North Carolina, 1753-1785, J. W. Linn, Salisbury, NC, 1983, p. 152.


� Pennsylvania Archives, Third Series, Vol. XXI, Harrisburg, PA, 1897, p. 337.


� Pennsylvania Archives, Third Series, Vol. XXI, Harrisburg, PA, 1897, p. 555.


� Jo White Linn, Abstracts of the Deeds of Rowan County, North Carolina, 1753-1785, J. W. Linn, Salisbury, NC, 1983, p. 176.


� Jo White Linn, Abstracts of the Deeds of Rowan County, North Carolina, 1753-1785, J. W. Linn, Salisbury, NC, 1983, p. 182.


� Jo White Linn, Abstracts of the Deeds of Rowan County, North Carolina, 1753-1785, J. W. Linn, Salisbury, NC, 1983, p. 187.


� Jo White Linn, Abstracts of the Deeds of Rowan County, North Carolina, 1753-1785, J. W. Linn, Salisbury, NC, 1983, p. 217.


� Digitized copy of Will Book D, pp. 220-221, Rowan County, North Carolina, online at FamilySearch.org.


�Rowan County, NC, Deed Book 14, p. 479.


� Photocopies of photos of the tombstones of James and Susanna McMachan with transcripts of what the tombstones have written on them included in a packet of McMahan family materials sent by Floreen Levasseur (now deceased), Oxford, MA, to Ruth Canote (now deceased), Kansas City, MO.


� Digitized copy of Rowan County, North Carolina, Devisor / Devisee book, online at FamilySearch.org.


� McCubbins Collection (Rowan County, NC):  Heacock-Hitt [LDS Microfilm 19861].  The McCubbins Collection was compiled by Mamie McCubbins and arranged by Mrs. Murphy Beard and Julie Riley. The collection includes information from bible records, cemetery records, newspapers, oral interviews, family papers and county records, primarily from Rowan County.  It includes an index.  


� Pennsylvania Archives, Third Series, Vol. XXIV, “Warrantees of Land in the County of Lancaster--1733-1896,” p. 424 (John Hildebrand), p. 430 (Jacob Hildebrand).  John Hildebrand obtained warrant no. 7 for 167 acres on a branch of Conestoga Creek on 1 Mar. 1733/4.  He patented the land on 9 Mar.  Jacob Hildebrand obtained warrant no. 323 for 50 acres in Earl Township on 4 Apr. 1744.  He did not patent the land.  These can be found on pages 85 and 93 of the Warrant Register for Lancaster County, PA [digitized original register online at www.phmc.state.pa.us/bah/dam/rg/di/r17-88WarrantRegisters/r17-88AllCountiesInterface.htm].


� “Wills: Abstracts 1749-1819: Surnames F - K: York Co, PA,” files.usgwarchives.net/pa/york/wills/willabstrf-k.txt.  No wife or children were identified in the abstract.  The Will books for York County are available online.  The entry in the books concerning John Hildebrand says that the Will was written in German and gives no further details.  On the Internet, John is identified as a contemporary of James McMahan.  He cannot be Susannah’s father. 


� Sources:


Find A Grave, Pvt. Johannes Hildebrand, www.findagrave.com/cgi-bin/fg.cgi?page=gr&GRid=70749703.


“Genealogy of Anna Barbara Hildebrand,” hartmanfamily.homestead.com/Barbara-Hildebrand-Hartman-gravestone.html.


� Extract from p. 532 of John Gibson’s 1886 History of York County, Pennsylvania, concerning Zion Reformed Church, files.usgwarchives.net/pa/york/history/gibson/zion-reformed-ch.txt.


� Albert H. Gerberich and Gaius M. Brumbaugh, "Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, Tax Lists 1751, 1756, 1757, 1758, with Additional Tax Lists and Index" Special Publication No. 4 of the National Genealogical Society, Wash. D.C., 1962, pp. 15 (Christian), 16 (Conrad, Michael), 26 (Andrew) [digitized original document online at www.familysearch.org].
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Andrew J. White, “The Hildebrand Farm in Earl Township,” Pennsylvania Mennonite Heritage, Vol. 19, No. 4, 30-Oct. 1996, pp. 22-30.


Andrew J. White, “Descendants of Conrad Hildebrand of Earl Township, Lancaster County, Pennsylvania,” Pennsylvania Mennonite Heritage, Vol. 15, No. 4. 1992, pp. 30-37.


�James McMahan (1714-1799) Of Early Rowan County, N.C. And Some of His Descendants,” an essay from an unknown source included in a packet of McMahan family materials sent by Floreen Levasseur (now deceased), Oxford, MA, to Ruth Canote (now deceased), Kansas City, MO.


� “James McMahan (1714-1799) Of Early Rowan County, N.C. And Some of His Descendants,” an essay from an unknown source and photocopies of photos of the tombstones of James and Susanna McMachan with transcripts of what the tombstones have written on them included in a packet of McMahan family materials sent by Floreen Levasseur (now deceased), Oxford, MA, to Ruth Canote (now deceased), Kansas City, MO.


� R. D. (“Rocky”) McMahan, Article 867, Davie County Heritage, North Carolina, Davie County Heritage Book Committee and Don Mills, Inc., Waynesville, NC, 1997.


� Margaret Wells, (1) “Adams of the Northern Neck of Virginia – Part I,” (2) “Adams of the Northern Neck – John Adams, Carpenter,” (3) “George Adams Timeline, 1640-1799,” and (4) “Descendants of John Adams,” unpublished manuscripts.  These manuscripts were written circa 2006. 


� By 20 Sep. 1658, Dr. William Adams was deceased (see Northumberland County Order Book 2, p. 94) [Beverly Fleet, Virginia Colonial Abstracts, Vol. I, Genealogical Publishing Co., Baltimore, 1988, p. 500].
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� Peggy Joyner, Abstracts of Virginia’s Northern Neck Warrants & Surveys:  Dunmore, Shenandoah, Culpeper, Prince William, Fauquier & Stafford Counties, 1710-1780, Vol. 3, Portsmouth, VA, 1986, p. 138.


� Rowan County Deed Book 7, pp. 254-255 [LDS Microfilm 0019780].
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William Hoge wrote his will in 1729 while still living in (East) Nottingham Township, Chester County, Pennsylvania. However, it was not probated until 1749 in Frederick County, Virginia. In it he listed his wife Barbara; son John; son William; son-in-law Neal Thomson; son-in-law Robert White; sons Alexander, James, and George; and daughter Joreter Hoge.


Records in Frederick County identify the wife of Neal Thomson as Barbara. The wife of Robert White was named Margaret. As presented below, the name of the third daughter, "Joreter", has to be a mangled version of the name "Garrata". Garrata was the wife of Robert Wilson.





Although not a Quaker himself, William Hoge was the neighbor of many Quakers in both Chester County and Frederick County. In 1734 in Frederick County, for example, William and George Hoge were witnesses to the Quaker marriage between George Hollingsworth and Hannah McKay. 


While still living in Chester County in 1731, three witnesses to the marriage between Joshua Job and Margaret McKay were James, George, and Garata "Hogg". Below is the complete reference:





Nottingham Quakers 1680-1889, Births, Deaths, and Marriages by Alice L. Beard





11th Day First Month (March)


"Joshua Job, son of Andrew of Nottingham Twp., Chester Co., Province of Pennsylvania, and Margaret MacKay, daughter of Robert of Milford Hundred, Cecil Co., Province of Pennsylvania, were married on the 11th day 1st month 1731 at Public meeting of Friends at Nottingham. Witnesses were: Joseph Elgar, Thomas Jacob, Jacob Job, Messer Brown, Jno Littler, Caleb Job, Elizabeth Gatchell, Simeon Taylor, Joseph Haines, William Kirk, John Gartrill, John Churchman, Jacob Beales, James HOGG, Jno Beals, George HOGG, Dinah Brown, Katherine Ross, Elizabeth Ross, Hannah Churchman, Elizabeth Hughes, Patience Job, Rachel Job, Abigail Gatchell, Esther Gatchell, Hannah McKay, Anne Brown, GARATA HOGG, Mary Oldham, Robert McKay, Elizabeth Job, Margaret McKay, Elizabeth Hollingsworth, Thomas Job, Elizabeth Job, Abraham Job, Sarah Job, Jno White, Mary White, Elizabeth McKay and Mary White, Jr." 





Bordering Chester County, Pennsylvania on the south is Cecil County, Maryland. William Hoge owned land in East Nottingham Township, Chester County and in Cecil County. (The exact border between Pennsylvania and Maryland was disputed at this time.) On 23 June 1733, Robert Wilson purchased 122 acres in Cecil County from Samuel Robinet. The land was corner to the property line of "William Hog". Then on 3 August 1741, Robert Wilson of Orange (later Frederick) County, Virginia and his wife Garrata sold this land to William Irwin (Cecil County Land Libre 6, p.115-8).


In the mean time, on 5 May 1740 in Orange (later Frederick) County, Virginia, Robert Willson had purchased 205 acres from William Hoge.


On 4 June 1755, Robert Willson and his wife Garrata sold 200 acres in Frederick County to James Willson (Frederick County Deed Book 4, p.20-1). Although not identified as such in the deed, James was their son. Assuming that James was 21 years old in 1755, his estimated year of birth would be 1734. Garrata was still unmarried as of March 1731. Hence Garrata probably married Robert Wilson between mid 1731 and mid 1734. She must have died before 4 March 1767. On that date Robert Wilson gave 254 acres to his daughter and son-in-law Barbara and Peter Stephens. Garrata's name did not appear in that transaction (Frederick County Deed Book 11, p.331).





Evidently Garrata's name was passed on to three of her granddaughters. I haven't examined the original texts, but others have transcribed the names of these grandchildren as Geretta/Jeretta/Georita Stephens, Georgetta/Georita Glass, and Georita Wilson. Other interpretations of the name of Robert Wilson's wife herself are Garnita and Garrala. (Using Garrala was understandable. It appeared in the 1755 land sale to James Wilson. In hindsight I think I can see that the writer used a stylized "t" which looks very much like an "l".) 


I suspect that on re-examination, we could interpret them all as something similar to Garrata or Geretta. Of course, in William Hoge's will, her name does appear as "Joreter". But phonetically Joreter sounds like Garatta if you give the "G" the sound it has in "germ" and you let Ted Kennedy do the pronouncing.


� James Hoge Tyler, compiler, The Family of Hoge, James Fulton Hoge, Greensboro, NC, 1927, p. 20.


� James Hoge Tyler, compiler, The Family of Hoge, James Fulton Hoge, Greensboro, NC, 1927, p. 20.
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